New Jersey Institute of Technology Digital Commons @ NJIT

Dissertations

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Spring 5-31-1999

Development of membrane extraction systems for measuring trace level organic compounds in water

Xuemei Guo New Jersey Institute of Technology

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.njit.edu/dissertations

Part of the Environmental Sciences Commons

Recommended Citation

Guo, Xuemei, "Development of membrane extraction systems for measuring trace level organic compounds in water" (1999). *Dissertations*. 971. https://digitalcommons.njit.edu/dissertations/971

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Electronic Theses and Dissertations at Digital Commons @ NJIT. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ NJIT. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@njit.edu.

Copyright Warning & Restrictions

The copyright law of the United States (Title 17, United States Code) governs the making of photocopies or other reproductions of copyrighted material.

Under certain conditions specified in the law, libraries and archives are authorized to furnish a photocopy or other reproduction. One of these specified conditions is that the photocopy or reproduction is not to be "used for any purpose other than private study, scholarship, or research." If a, user makes a request for, or later uses, a photocopy or reproduction for purposes in excess of "fair use" that user may be liable for copyright infringement,

This institution reserves the right to refuse to accept a copying order if, in its judgment, fulfillment of the order would involve violation of copyright law.

Please Note: The author retains the copyright while the New Jersey Institute of Technology reserves the right to distribute this thesis or dissertation

Printing note: If you do not wish to print this page, then select "Pages from: first page # to: last page #" on the print dialog screen



The Van Houten library has removed some of the personal information and all signatures from the approval page and biographical sketches of theses and dissertations in order to protect the identity of NJIT graduates and faculty.

ABSTRACT

DEVELOPMENT OF MEMBRANE EXTRACTION SYSTEMS FOR MEASURING TRACE LEVEL ORGANIC COMPOUNDS IN WATER

By Xuemei Guo

The presence of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) in ground and surface water resources poses a threat to public health. The measurement of these trace level contaminants in water is of significant importance. Conventional methods for analysis of trace volatile organic compounds in water include purge and trap, head space analysis, and solid phase microextraction (SPME). While these are excellent laboratory techniques, none of them can be used for continuous, on-line monitoring of water streams. Membrane separation of organic compounds from water provides an exciting possibility for on-line extraction and analysis. In previous investigations, water continuously flowed on the feed side of the membrane and the analytes were continuously removed by an inert gas stream or a vacuum. The measurement was based on steady state permeation. This approach has several limitations. For example, the steady state can not be reached instantly, resulting in a long analysis time. Another limitation is that this instrument can not be used for analyzing small discrete samples.

In this study, a novel approach, referred to as pulse introduction membrane extraction (PIME), is presented. This technique eliminates steady state requirements and can be used for continuous monitoring, as well as for discrete analysis of trace levels of VOCs in water. Water samples are introduced as a pulse into a membrane module. An eluent is used to transport the sample onto the membrane. The permeated organic compounds are

extracted by an inert gas, concentrated in a micro-sorbent trap and injected into a GC for analysis.

An aqueous boundary layer which forms at the membrane surface due to the poor mixing of water with the membrane appears to be the major resistance to mass transfer for the permeation process. Boundary layer effects were reduced by nitrogen purge of the membrane, and by an alternative membrane module design. A mathematical model which takes into account the aqueous boundary layer effects was developed to describe the nonsteady state, pulse introduction process. A qualitative model of extraction efficiency is also presented here to illustrate the factors that affect analytical sensitivity.

The combination of system optimization, nitrogen purge and improved module design results in higher sensitivity and faster response than other methods reported in the technical literature. Detection limits are at ppb levels, precision and extraction efficiency are excellent. As the result of this research, the capability of continuous monitoring of trace levels of organic compounds in water has been demonstrated.

The PIME system was compared with previously reported steady state membrane permeation system. The advantages of the PIME system include higher sensitive and faster response and can also be used for discrete sample analysis. Comparison of the PIME with the purge and trap technique, which is currently the most popular method for VOCs analysis, showed that the results are in good agreement. Contaminated ground water samples from the Naval Engineering Research Station were analyzed to demonstrate the practicality of the PIME system.

This study was extended to the analysis of semivolatile organic compounds (SVOCs) in water. Continuous monitoring of SVOCs in water using membrane extraction and on-

line HPLC analysis was explored. The system was based on continuous extraction rather than pulse introduction. It demonstrated the capability for enrichment of SVOCs from water into a solvent. Continuous monitoring of SVOCs was demonstrated at ppb level using HPLC. System parameters which affect the enrichment factors were studied.

DEVELOPMENT OF MEMBRANE EXTRACTION SYSTEMS FOR MEASURING TRACE LEVEL ORGANIC COMPOUNDS IN WATER

by Xuemei Guo ..

A Dissertation Submitted to the Faculty of New Jersey Institute of Technology in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Chemical Engineering, Chemistry and Environmental Science

January 1999

Copyright © 1999 by Xuemei Guo

All Rights Reserved

APPROVAL PAGE

DEVELOPMENT OF MEMBRANE EXTRACTION SYSTEMS FOR MEASURING TRACE LEVEL ORGANIC COMPOUNDS IN WATER

Xuemei Guo

| Dr. Somenath Mitra, Dissertation Advisor Associate Professor of Chemistry, NJIT | Date |
|---|------|
| Dr. Barbara Kebbekus, Committee Member Professor of Chemistry, NJIT | Date |
| Dr. Henry Shaw, Committee Member Professor of Chemical Engineering, NJIT | Date |
| Dr. Richard Trattner, Committee Member Professor of Chemistry, Associate Chair, NJIT | Date |
| Dr. James Schlegel, Committee Member Professor of Chemistry, Rutgers University | Date |

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH

Author: Xuemei Guo

Degree: Doctor of Philosophy

Date: January 1999

Undergraduate and Graduate Education:

- Doctor of Philosophy in Environmental Science New Jersey Institute of Technology, Newark, New Jersey, 1999
- Bachelor of Engineering Tianjin University, Tianjin, P. R. China, 1988

Major: Environmental Science

Presentations and Publications:

Xuemei Guo and Somenath Mitra, "Continuous Monitoring of Volatile Organic Compounds in Water Using Pulse Introduction Membrane Extraction" in press J. Chromatogr. 1998

Lizhong Zhang, Xuemei Guo and Somenath Mitra, "Using composite membrane for Enhanced Sensitivity and Faster Response in On-Line Membrane Extraction Microtrap Gas Chromatography" *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, vol. 44, pp. 529-540, 1997.

Somenath Mitra, Lizhong Zhang, Naihong Zhu and Xuemei Guo "Characteristic of On-Line Membrane Extraction Microtrap GC System as Applied to Air and Water Monitoring" *Journal of Microcolumn Separation*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 21-27, 1996.

Somenath Mitra, Xuemei Guo and Naihong Zhu, "Membrane Sample Introduction for Gas Chromatography" *Eastern Analytical Symposium and Exposition*, Nov. 1996. Somerset, NJ.

Somenath Mitra and Xuemei Guo, "On-Line Membrane Extraction for Continuous Monitoring of VOCs in Water" *Measurement of Air Pollutants, Symposium and Courses*, April, 1997. Research Triangle Park, NC.

Xuemei Guo and Somenath Mitra, "Development of Membrane Purge and Trap for Measurement of Volatile Organics in Water" *Eastern Analytical Symposium and Exposition*, Nov., 1997. Somerset, NJ.

.

Position Held:

Senior Analytical Chemist 3/98 - present Polyurethane Specialties Corporation, Lyndhurst, New Jersey To my mother Zhangzhen Xiao who is in heaven now and my father Cuibin Guo

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my dissertation advisor, Dr. Somenath Mitra, not only for his guidance to my research, but also for his understanding, friendship and encouragement. Dr. Mitra's knowledge and keen research interest have stimulated me and given me confidence throughout the research. Without his tremendous support, this study would not have been done.

I would like to extend my gratitude to Dr. Barbara Kebbekus, Dr. Henry Shaw, Dr. Richard Trattner, and Dr. James Schlegel for their time and advice to this study, and for serving as the thesis committee members.

I also like to thank my colleagues in the laboratory, Dr. Lizhong Zhang, Dr. Naihong Zhu, Mr. Chaohua Feng for their valuable help, and my new fellow graduate students Mr. Anthony San Juan, Ms. Minhee Kim and Ms. Qin Xiang for their friendship. I also thank Mr. Clint Brockway, Ms. Gwen San Agustin (who is in heaven now) for their providing laboratory equipment for this research.

Very special thanks are given to my husband Hesheng Zhang who has always been supporting and inspiring me during my study. Thanks, too, to my sister Xuemeng for her support during my study.

vii

| Chapter | Page |
|---|------|
| 1 INTRODUCTION | 1 |
| 1.1 Organic Pollutants in Water and Their Measurements | 1 |
| 1.1.1 Water Pollution | 1 |
| 1.1.2 Conventional Measurement Methods | 2 |
| 1.1.3 Instrumentation of Continuous Measurements | 5 |
| 1.2 Membrane Separation | 9 |
| 1.2.1 Historic Review | 10 |
| 1.2.2 Theory of Membrane Separation | 13 |
| 1.2.2.1 Fundamental Parameters | 13 |
| 1.2.2.2 Effect of Temperature | 15 |
| 1.2.2.3 Concentration Dependence | 16 |
| 1.2.2.4 Diffusion Flux | 16 |
| 1.2.2.5 Pervaparation | 18 |
| 1.3 Membrane Material | 29 |
| 2 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES | 30 |
| 3 NON-STEADY STATE, PULSE INTRODUCTION MEMBRANE EXTRACTION OF ORGANIC COMPOUNDS FROM AQUEOUS MATRIX | 31 |
| 3.1 Introduction | 31 |
| 3.2 Experimental Section | 34 |
| 3.3 Results and Discussion | 37 |
| 3.3.1 Theory of Non-steady State Pulse Introduction | 37 |

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

| Chapter | Page |
|---|------|
| 3.3.2 Effect of Process Parameters | 41 |
| 3.3.3 Advantages of Non-steady State Pulse Introduction | 49 |
| 3.4 Conclusion | 54 |
| 4 ENHANCING PERFORMANCE OF PULSE INTRODUCTION MEMBRANE EXTRACTION AND REDUCING BOUNDARY LAYER EFFECTS | 55 |
| 4.1 Introduction | 55 |
| 4.2 Experimental Section | 58 |
| 4.3 Results and Discussion | 62 |
| 4.3.1 Membrane Module Design | 70 |
| 4.3.2 Elimination of Boundary layer by Nitrogen purge | 76 |
| 4.4 Conclusion | 81 |
| 5 CONTINUOUS MONITORING OF VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS IN WATER USING PULSE INTRODUCTION MEMBRANE EXTRACTION | 82 |
| 5.1 Introduction | 82 |
| 5.2 Experimental Section | 86 |
| 5.3 Results and Discussion | 88 |
| 5.3.1 Continuous Monitoring of Water with PIME-GC | 88 |
| 5.3.2 Comparison with Continuous Sample Introduction | 94 |
| 5.3.3 Advantages of "Fresh Membrane" | 98 |
| 5.3.4 Advantages of Nitrogen Purge | 102 |

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

| Chapter | Page |
|--|------|
| 5.4 Conclusion | |
| 6 CHARACTERISTIC STUDY OF PIME SYSTEM AND ITS APPLICATION | |
| 6.1 Introduction | |
| 6.2 Experimental Section | |
| 6.3 Results and Discussion | 108 |
| 6.3.1 Microtrapping Interval | 108 |
| 6.3.2 Temperature Effects | 111 |
| 6.3.3 Effects of Salinity | 113 |
| 6.3.4 Multiple-bed Adsorbent Trap | 115 |
| 6.3.5 Comparison with Purge and Trap System | 116 |
| 6.3.6 Application | 122 |
| 6.4 Conclusion | 122 |
| 7 ON-LINE MEMBRANE EXTRACTION FOR CONTINUOUS MONITORING OF SEMIVOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS IN WATER | 123 |
| 7.1 Introduction | |
| 7.2 Experimental Section | |
| 7.3 Results and Discussion | 129 |
| 7.3.1 Performance of the Instrumentation | 129 |
| 7.3.2 Enrichment Factor | 133 |

| Chapter | Page |
|----------------|------|
| 7.4 Conclusion | |
| 8 SUMMARY | 140 |
| REFERENCES | 142 |

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figur | Figure Page | |
|-------|---|--|
| 1.1 | Schematic diagram of purge and trap system4 | |
| 1.2 | Typical results of a permeation experiment, showing the time lag t_L 12 | |
| 1.3 | Conventional versus membrane-imposed vapor-liquid equilibria20 | |
| 1.4 | Pervaporation diagram showing boundary layer resistance | |
| 1.5 | Schematic diagram of the polarization phenomenon in the neighborhood of a pervaporation membrane | |
| 1.6 | Two major categories of polymeric membrane | |
| 3.1 | Schematic diagram of the pulse introduction membrane extraction GC system35 | |
| 3.2 | Input and permeation profiles in pulse introduction membrane extraction. Membrane response was obtained using 2 ml 31.5 ppb toluene solution at flow rate of 1 ml/min. Input profile was obtained using 2 ml 4.4 ppm toluene solution | |
| 3.3 | Experimental and computed permeation profiles for benzene. A 3 ml 50 ppb benzene sample at eluent flow rate of 0.8 ml/min was used in this analysis42 | |
| 3.4 | Permeation and input concentration profiles at different flow rates. Permeation profiles were obtained using a 8 ml sample containing 75 ppb toluene. Input profiles were obtained using 5 ml sample containing 4.4 ppm toluene | |
| 3.5 | Lag time as a function of sample duration (Δt) on membrane module at room temperature. Δt was varied by varying eluent flow rate. Experiments were done with 8 ml injection volume using 75 ppb toluene, 67.5 ppb benzene and 60 ppb ethyl benzene | |
| 3.6 | Extraction efficiency as a function of residence time. A 5 ml sample containing 48 ppm acetone, 54 ppm benzene and 56 ppm toluene was used in this analysis. Membrane temperature was 48°C | |
| 3.7 | Permeation profiles of 1 ppm toluene as a function of injection volume. Membrane temperature was 50 °C and sample flow rate was 3.5 ml/min48 | |

LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

| Figu | re Page |
|------|---|
| 3.8 | System response during continuous sample introduction. A 52.3 ppb toluene solution flowed continuously through the membrane module at 1 ml/min rate. Then the sample concentration was dropped to 27.7 ppb for 10 minutes before being changed back to 52.3 ppb |
| 3.9 | Chromatogram of PIME system |
| 3.10 | Calibration curves of several organic compounds. Sample volume was 5 ml at eluent flow rate of 1 ml/min. The membrane module temperature was 42 °C53 |
| 4.1 | Concentration profile in aqueous boundary layer and membrane |
| 4.2 | Schematics diagram of the PIME system with spiral membrane module |
| 4.3 | System response profiles. 48.4 ppb toluene sample at eluent flow rate of 0.8 ml/min was used |
| 4.4 | Comparison of system response for sample pulse injection and continuous introduction. Water flow rate of 2 ml/min was used |
| 4.5 | System response as a function of $[1-\exp. (k/v^{(2/3)})]$. A 8 ml sample containing 67.5 ppb benzene and 75 ppb toluene was used in these experiments |
| 4.6 | Experimental and calculated response as a function of sample velocity. A 8 ml sample containing 67.5 ppb benzene and 75 ppb toluene was used in these experiments |
| 4.7 | Response as a function of injection volume for a sample containing 87.4 ppb benzene and 173.4 ppb toluene |
| 4.8 | Experimental and calculated system response as a function of membrane length. A 0.7 ml sample containing 30 ppb benzene at an eluent flow rate of 1 ml/min was used |
| 4.9 | Comparison of sensitivity for different membrane design. A 0.7 ml sample at an eluent flow rate of 1 ml/min73 |

LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

| Figure Page | |
|---|--|
| 4.10 Calculated extraction efficiency of benzene as a function of membrane fiber length. The membrane module contained 12 pieces of membrane fibers74 | |
| 4.11 Reduced boundary layer thickness by changing flow direction of fluid75 | |
| 4.12 The effect of nitrogen purge on system response and lag time. The nitrogen was turned on after a predetermined period of water elution. The experiments were done with 37.5 ppb toluene, and injection volume was 3 ml at eluent flow rate of 1 ml/min | |
| 4.13 Permeation profiles in nitrogen purged and unpurged membranes. Nitrogen was turned on 6 minutes after injection. A 2 ml sample containing 27.3 ppb toluene, at an eluent flow rate of 0.8 ml/min was used | |
| 5.1 Schematic diagram of the pulse introduction membrane extraction GC system87 | |
| 5.2 Permeation profiles of benzene. A sample containing 48.7 ppb benzene and0.8 ml/min eluent flow rate were used | |
| 5.3 Series of chromatogram obtained by consecutive injections of a sample containing 30 ppb benzene, 30 ppb toluene and 40 ppb chlorobenzene92 | |
| 5.4 Calibration curves for different VOCs in PIME. A 1 ml sample at flow rate of 0.8 ml/min was used. Nitrogen was turned on 5 minutes after sample injection93 | |
| 5.5 System response of OLMEM system during sample concentration change. During the monitoring, toluene concentration changed from 45.4 ppb to 14.5 ppb. Flow rate of 1ml/min was used | |
| 5.6 Response per unit of sample volume as a function of sample volume. Samples containing 100 ppb benzene and toluene at flow rate of 1 ml/min were used. The responses per unit of sample of volume for 5 ml sample were assumed to be 1 | |
| 5.7 Comparison of sensitivity for PIME and OLMEM based on fresh membrane effect. 0.4 ml toluene samples at 0.7 ml/min flow rate were used101 | |
| 5.8 Comparison of sensitivity for PIME and OLMEM based on nitrogen purge of membrane. 1 ml water samples containing chlorobenzene at flow rate of 0.8 ml/min flow rate were used | |

LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

| Figu | Figure Page | |
|------|--|--|
| 6.1 | Schematic diagram of multibed microtrap with back flush desorption109 | |
| 6.2 | Response as a function of trapping interval110 | |
| 6.3 | System response as a function of membrane module temperature112 | |
| 6.4 | Salinity effect on system response | |
| 6.5 | Chromatogram from a multibed trap with back flush desorption117 | |
| 6.6 | Chromatogram of a ground water sample contaminated with chlorinated organics. Membrane was at 43 °C and eluent flow rate was 0.6 ml/min. GC temperature program was 40 °C for 4 minutes, and then raised to 100 °C at 20 °C/min and then to 220 °C at 15 °C/min | |
| 7.1 | Concentration profile in membrane extraction process. C _w , C _m , C _s are analyte concentration in water, membrane and solvent phase respectively. The subscript 1 and 2 stand for the incoming and outgoing concentration in that phase | |
| 7.2 | Schematic diagram of continuous membrane extraction system for SVOCs from water. Flow over mode is shown here | |
| 7.3 | Series chromatograms of continuous monitoring of a water stream. A water stream containing 2.58 ppm phenol, 0.818 ppm aniline and 0.957 ppm nitrobenzene was used. Acetonitrile was used as the extractant at flow rate of 0.04 ml/min. Water flow rate was 2.5 ml/min in a flow through mode130 | |
| 7.4 | Calibration curves of several organic compounds. Acetonitrile was used as the extractant at flow rate of 0.04 ml/min. Water flow rate was 2.5 ml/min in a flow through mode | |
| 7.5 | Enrichment factor as a function of water flow rate. Acetonitrile was used as the extractant at flow rate of 0.027 ml/min. Flow over mode was used | |
| 7.6 | Enrichment factor as a function of extractant flow rate. Octanol was used as the extractant. Water flow rate was 5 ml/min in the flow over mode138 | |
| | | |

ж

LIST OF TABLES

| Tabl | e Page |
|------|---|
| 1.1 | Enrichment factor and detection limits for some VOCs using silicone membrane extraction |
| 4.1 | Reduction in lag time and loss in sensitivity in nitrogen purged elution |
| 6.1 | Physical properties of adsorbents108 |
| 6.2 | Method detection limits for PIME system and compared to that for purge and trap system |
| 6.3 | Comparison of PIME system with purge and trap system119 |
| 6.4 | Analysis of ground water samples from contaminated wells at Naval Engineering Research Station, Toms River, NJ121 |
| 7.1 | Method detection limits and precision of several semivolatile organic compounds. Methanol was used as the extractant at flow rate of 0.04 ml/min. Sample flow rate was 2.5 ml/min in a flow through mode131 |
| 7.2 | Enrichment factor for different organic compounds using different solvents. Water flow rates of 1 ml/min for methanol extraction and 5 ml/min for the other solvents were used in a flow over mode |
| 7.3 | Effect of flow mode on enrichment factor. In flow through mode, methanol flow rate was 0.023 ml/min and the water flow rate was 2.9 ml/min. In flow over mode, methanol flow rate was 0.035 ml/min and the water flow rate was 2.9 ml/min |

.

NOMENCLATURE

Roman Letters

- A membrane surface area, cm^2
- C concentration, mol/cm³
- d diameter of the hollow fiber, cm
- D diffusivity, cm^2/s
- ΔE_d activation energy of diffusion, J/mol
- ΔE_s heat of solution, J/mol
- f gas fugacity, kPa
- F Enrichment factor in chapter 7 and permeation rate across membrane, mol/s, in the rest of the thesis
- ΔH heat of absorption, J/mol
- I mass transfer resistance
- J flux, mol/ cm²-s
- K mass transfer coefficient
- k phenomenological coefficient defined by equation (1-24) in chapter 1 and partition coefficient in the rest of the thesis
- k_D Henry's law constant
- l membrane thickness, cm
- L membrane length, cm
- M system response in page 65 and molecular weight in the rest of the thesis
- p partial pressure, kPa

NOMENCLATURE (Continued)

- P permeability, mol/cm-s
- Q water flow rate, cm^3/s
- r distance along membrane diameter, cm
- R_c universal gas constant
- R fiber radius, cm
- Re Reynolds number
- S solubility, mol/cm³
- t_L time lag, s
- t time, s
- T temperature, °C
- Δt sample duration on membrane, s
- V sample volume, cm³
- w' weight fraction of analyte
- x distance along membrane thickness, cm
- z distance along membrane length, cm

Subscripts

- b boundary layer
- e & s inlet and outlet, respectively
- i & j molecule i and j, respectively

NOMENCLATURE (Continued)

- m membrane matrix
- r reduced (normalized) value
- v vapor phase
- w water sample
- 0 standard state
- 1 & 2 incoming outgoing position respectively
- * equilibrium state

Greek Symbols

- α membrane selectivity
- β constant in equation 1.13 and 1.14
- γ activity coefficient
- δ cohesive energy density
- λ mean jump length
- μ chemical potential in page 22-24 and viscosity (millipoise) in the rest of the thesis
- v velocity, cm/s
- ρ density, gm/cm³
- σ boundary layer thickness, cm

NOMENCLATURE (Continued)

Abbreviation

- BTEX benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene and xylene
- EE extraction efficiency
- FTIR Fourier transform infrared spectrometry
- GC gas chromatography
- HPLC high performance liquid chromatography
- L-L liquid-liquid extraction
- MDL method detection limit
- MEK methyl ethyl ketone
- MIMS membrane interface with mass spectrometry
- MS mass spectrometer
- OLMEM on-line membrane extraction microtrap
- PIME pulse introduction membrane extraction
- Re Reynolds number
- RSD relative standard deviation
- USEPA US Environmental Protection Agency
- UV ultraviolet
- VOCs volatile organic compounds
- SPE solid phase extraction
- SVOCs semivolatile organic compounds
- TCA 1,1,1-trichloroethane

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Organic Pollutants in Water and Their Measurements

1.1.1 Water Pollution

The contamination of ground and surface water generally occurs from contaminants that find their way into water from industrial waste releases, agricultural runoff and atmospheric deposition. Some contaminants are also formed during the treatment of water supplies, a good example being the disinfection by-products. Between 1988-91, the US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) reported numerous cases of ground and surface water contamination due to the presence of organic pollutants. EPA phase I investigations reported the presence of cis/trans-1,2-dichloroethylene contamination in 205 ground water sites, dichloromethane in 294 sites, ethylbenzene in 107 sites, tetrachloroethylene in 447 sites and toluene in 222 sites [1]. From an analytical point of view, the organic pollutants in water generally are classified as volatile organic compounds (VOCs), and semivolatile organic compounds (SVOCs). The VOCs are defined by EPA as the molecules with vapor pressures greater than 0.01 kPa at 25 °C.

The presence of organic compounds in water pose a direct threat to public health because many of the compounds are toxic or carcinogenic. For example, benzene is a carcinogen, and tetrachloroethylene damages central nervous system and causes kidney malfunction. Some of these compounds, for example the carcinogens, are regulated based on zero toxicity thresholds, which means that any exposure is associated with some kind of health risk. The exposure routes could be dermal absorption, inhalation or direct

1

ingestion. The bioaccumulation of trace level organics also increases human exposure to these toxicants. Therefore, measurement of trace level organic compounds in water is of significant importance.

1.1.2 Conventional Measurement Methods

The measurement methods of organic compounds in water include liquid-liquid (L-L) extraction, purge and trap, head space analysis, solid phase extraction, solid phase microextraction and large volume injection. These methods are tedious and expensive in terms of time and labor involved. In L-L extraction, a large amount of solvent is used, generating a large quantity of hazardous waste. Moreover, an additional concentration step is needed during which volatile organic compounds could be lost. In head space analysis, a certain amount of aqueous sample is sealed in a vial with head space. Once equilibrium is reached, a head space sample is drawn and analyzed. This method is insensitive, has poor precision and accuracy and is usually used as a screening method. Large volume injection [2] is a relatively new technology for analysis of liquid samples. In this technique, 100-400 µl water sample is directly injected into a GC column. The analytes are eluted as sharp bands during concurrent solvent evaporation. Large-volume injection is also attractive for coupled HPLC-GC system in which the clean-up eluent fraction containing analytes from the preparative HPLC are injected on-line to GC for analysis [2]. Solid phase extraction appears to be the common method for analysis of SVOCs. Analytes in a sample are selectively adsorbed onto an adsorbent disk and washing and desorption are applied to the disk prior to instrumental analysis.

Currently, purge and trap is the leading method for analysis of VOCs. The schematic diagram of purge and trap is shown in Fig. 1.1 [3]. Here an inert gas is used to purge an aqueous sample. The purged organics are concentrated on a sorbent trap. Thermal desorption is then applied to desorb the organics, which are refocused in a cryogenic trap at the head of a GC column. Another thermal desorption step is needed for GC injection and analysis. In purge and trap, the analysis time is long because purging, and heating/cooling of the sorbent trap take time. The moisture from aqueous sample often blocks the cryogenic trap by forming ice and affects the GC analysis.

In all of these techniques, the measurement process is comprised of several distinct steps, such as, sampling at site, transportation, storage, sample preparation and analysis. These are slow processes and are susceptible to errors such as sample loss and cross contamination. Laboratory analyses that involve significant amount of manual sample handling are expensive, thus limiting the number of the samples that can be analyzed. In an environmental process, such as waste discharge, pollutant concentration and/or composition varies with time. The sampling followed by laboratory analysis approach can easily miss some of these concentration dynamics. Consequently, in a guidance document for the Great Lakes system [4], for highly volatile, hydrolyzable, or degradable compounds, EPA strongly recommended the use of only flow-through tests in which the concentrations of test compounds in test solutions are measured using acceptable analytical methods. A flow-through test is a test in which test solutions flow into constant-volume test chambers either intermittently (e.g., every few minutes) or

3



Fig. 1.1 Schematic diagram of purge and trap system. (from reference 3)

continuously, with the excess flowing out. However, such tests are currently unavailable for all analytes.

At present, there is a need for instrumentation providing fast analysis, low detection limits and the capability of analysis for continuous on-line monitoring of water streams. This instrumentation also should have a simple and rugged design and low cost for application on real water monitoring. Continuous on-line analysis combines the distinct steps in sample preparation and analysis process into an integrated instrument. It is capable of the warning of imminent problems, and provides immediate analysis results while the site investigation for ground water contamination is going on. It also allows a process such as water recycle to be monitored continuously. The increasely stringent analytical requirements of low detection limits required by evolving regulations poses a real challenge to on-line environmental measurements.

1.1.3 Instrumentation of Continuous Measurements

Much effort has been put in recently to develop instrumentation for continuous on-line measurement of pollutants in the environment. Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) Spectrometer has high accuracy, precision, and rapid data acquisition and handling rates. FTIR has formed applicability for continuous monitoring of air emission [5-8]. FTIR and near IR (NIR) have also been used in real time measurement of industrial process, such as, polymer production [9], and reaction kinetic [4]. GC separation coupled with FTIR has been used for multiple analyte analysis, and one of the earliest studies was reported by Liebman et. al. for monitoring combustion and pyrolysis products [10]. FTIR is more

applicable for qualitative analysis of simple mixtures since the IR fingerprint spectra tend to be low resolution. However, the frequent nonadherence to Beer's law and the inability to interpret complex spectra limits the application of IR methods in many analyses. Moisture in the analytes seriously effects the analysis due to the strong absorption in middle IR, limiting its application to environmental samples which are usually associated with moisture. The detection limits of sub ppm for organics also limits its application of analysis of environmental samples for trace levels of ppb [11].

The ultraviolet spectrometer is a popular detector for organic analysis. Overlapping absorption band resulted from the superposition of vibrational transitions on the electronic transitions limits the qualitative analysis. Background absorption often interferes in the analysis. A UV detector has been used for continuous detection of aqueous contaminants using in situ corona reaction [12]. This approach used a chemical reaction to reduce the background absorption and measured the total UV absorption of contaminants. The reaction was induced in situ via highly reactive species generated in a high voltage, point-to-liquid corona discharge. By continuously measuring the absorption before and after the contactless, electroreagent corona reaction, suppression of the background of nonreacting species was obtained, and continuous measurement of the total absorption of components of interest was achieved. This method has detection limits at the ppm level.

The mass spectrometer has been used for continuous measurements. Direct sample introduction into the mass ionization chamber is a simple configuration for continuous monitoring. However, it is associated with high detection limits and low sensitivity.

6

Membrane interface with mass spectrometer (MIMS) was reported for continuous monitoring [13-22]. Hoch and Kok published the first article on membrane separation for analysis of organics in 1963 [13]. In MIMS, a selective membrane interfacing with water or air sample and vacuum of the ionization source was used for analyte permeation thus a certain degree of enrichment was provided. The permeated VOCs were directly vacuumed into the mass spectrometer for analysis. Membrane interface with mass spectrometer has been used in continuous monitoring of water and air streams [14-19]. Continuous in vivo mass spectrometric determination of selected organics in blood with a membrane probe has also been reported [21]. The MIMS increases the analysis sensitivity, improves the detection limits and combines the separation, concentration and analysis into one step. It appeared to be capable for direct trace level analysis for organic compounds. However in most cases environmental pollution is so complex that the analysis results are difficult to interpret without chromatographic separation. In some mass analysis cases, a gentle ionization has be used to obtain simple mass spectrum for measurement in order to avoid the interference in the mixture.

Continuous extraction of organics from water via membrane coupled with GC analysis has also been studied where an adsorbent was used as the interface between membrane module and GC [23-39]. The adsorbent trap or cryogenic trap was used as the preconcentrator and GC injector. An on-line membrane extraction microtrap system (OLMEM) [23] has been developed in our laboratory over the last few years for continuous introduction of VOCs from a liquid stream directly into a GC. This system

has demonstrated low detection limits (ppb levels), high selectivity and the ability to continuously monitor VOCs in water.

In these membrane-GC or MS continuous monitoring techniques, the membrane was continuously in contact with the sample and the measurements were made at equilibrium state, which can take a fairly large amount of time to reach [39]. Therefore the system response lags behind the sample concentration change. Another disadvantage is that the continuous membrane extraction is not suitable for discrete small sample analysis because a large amount of sample is needed to reach steady state.

SVOCs are not readily vaporized, so they pose an additional challenge to analysis. Although much effort has been made in membrane extraction of VOCs from water, very limited data are available for membrane extraction of SVOCs. Recently, laser desorption of SVOCs from the membrane interface in membrane introduction mass spectrometry has been reported [40]. The laser directly heated the membrane surface resulting in rapid desorption of the SVOCs and desorbed SVOCs are vacuumed into the ionization source of a mass spectrometer. Study on dialysis with semipermeable membrane as an efficient method for lipid removal in the analysis of bioaccumulative chemicals has also been published [41]. In this study, the membrane is used as an nondestructive media to separate lipid from organochlorine contaminants. The cleaned-up analytes were then analyzed using MS as regular samples. A membrane concentrator for SVOCs in water was designed by H. Nomura, J. Ahn, et al. [42] where a water stream continuously flowed through a membrane module, and a certain amount of organic solvent continuously circulated through the membrane module. After about 110 minutes of equilibration, an

eighty fold enrichment was obtained. In this approach, the extractant solvent was circulated to extract the analytes. Therefore, when the sample concentration changes, the extractant concentration can not represent real the sample concentration.

1.2 Membrane Separation

Environmental analysis is challenging because the pollutant concentration in the real world can be in trace level of parts per billion (ppb) range and environmental matrices are complex and variable. The preconcentration and separation techniques are critical in the analysis process and directly affect the performance in terms of accuracy, precision, linearity calibration curve and detection limit.

For a fast separation of organic compounds from an air or water matrix, membranes have received some attention [14-39] because membranes can be used for selective extraction of organics from water, or air. Membranes have been used in different industries for gas separation, dialysis, osmosis and biochemical compound separation [43]. The first application of membranes in analytical chemistry appeared in the 60's [12]. More efforts on membrane analysis of organic compounds research were carried out in 80's and 90's, since the membrane structures with high selectivity and permeation rate were developed by then. The membrane module can be made from flat sheets or hollow fibers. The later was found to provide higher surface area per unit of volume. Since its introduction to analytical chemistry by Westover et al [14], many applications of hollow fiber for sampling have been reported [16-39].

1.2.1 Historic Review

Membrane separation was first studied by J. K. Mitchell in 1831 who observed the membrane's selective solvation and the diffusion of molecules. Around the same period, A. Fick formulated Fick's law [44] which states that diffusion flux is proportional to the concentration gradient.

$$J = -D \left(\delta C / \delta X\right) \tag{1-1}$$

where J is flux, D is diffusivity, C is concentration and X is the distance along membrane thickness.

Professor Graham in University College London made a major contribution to membrane separation. He studied gas permeation through porous membrane and proposed the Graham's law [43]:

$$F_i/F_j = \sqrt{\frac{M_i}{M_j}} \tag{1-2}$$

where F_i and F_j are the permeation rate of molecule i and j respectively. M_i and M_j are molecular weight for i and j respectively.

Graham also proposed the theory for nonporous membrane now referred to as "molecular solution and diffusion" [44] which is still the accepted theory for membrane permeation. The "solution and diffusion" theory describes membrane permeation to be comprised of the following processes:

1. Molecules first dissolve in membrane.

2. The dissolved molecules thermally diffuse under concentration gradient utilizing the activation energy of the molecule and the polymer segments. The molecule rotates the
segment creating a suitable size vacancy and jumps in. The total jumping direction is the direction of concentration gradient.

3. The molecules desorb from the membrane surface to the other media.

Granham noted that the solvation of the molecule depends on the nature of the molecule and determined a series of relative permeation rates across the membrane for a number of gases.

In 1920, H. A. Dayne [45] studied unsteady state diffusion in membranes and substantially improved the membrane theory. He established the dynamic methods for measuring the diffusivity, solubility and permeability and developed the mathematical solution for measuring diffusivity. After solving the Fick's second law under appropriate initial and boundary conditions, he demonstrated that the extrapolation of the line obtained, after steady-state conditions are established, to the time axis gives a time lag t_L as shown in Fig. 1.2 that is directly related to the diffusion coefficient [44, 46]:

$$t_{\rm L} = l^2/6D$$
 (1-3)

where t_{L} is time lag, 1 is membrane thickness. This equation was fully developed by Barrer for use [47].

Over the years, several comprehensive review papers and books [48, 49, 43, 44]] have been published on the mechanism of membrane separation, interaction of polymer segment and solutes, the utilization of the thermal energy by molecules for permeation, and the relationships between permeability, diffusivity and solubility. Although the theory of membrane separation has been known for more than a century, industrial applications were not developed till late 70's and early 80's when the thin membrane with high

l,



Fig. 1.2 Typical results of a permeation experiment, showing the time lag t_L . (from reference 44)

diffusivity and selectivity were manufactured. As the milestone of the modern membrane synthesis technology, Monsanto introduced Prisom system for air separations in 1983. Following that, Union Carbide developed Innovative Membrane Systems for gas separation. In the last 30 years, membrane separation processes have been widely adopted in other industries, such as, waste water treatment, biomedical separation and dialysis, electrodyalysis, and dehumidification.

1.2.2 Theory of Membrane Separation

1.2.2.1 Fundamental Parameters: As noted above, transport through a nonporous membrane is typically described by a solution-diffusion model. The solution of low molecular weight permeants into the membrane is similar to permeant's sorption into liquid. Solubility indicates the amount of analytes that can be taken up by membrane. It is an equilibrium process that is affected by polymer-permeant interactions. The sorption of low molecular weight permeants in rubbery membrane is defined as [44]:

$$S = C/f = C/(\gamma_p p) \approx C/p$$
(1-4)

where S is solubility, f is gas fugacity, γ_p is activity and p is partial pressure. At sufficiently low permeant concentration, analytes behave ideally (f = p, $\gamma_p = 1$). In these cases, the absorption can be described by Henry's law [43]:

$$C = S \times p = k_D \times p \tag{1-5}$$

where k_d is Henry's law constant.

Conditions such as high concentration, interaction of permeant and polymer, multilayer adsorption where deviation from Henry's law occurs are seldom of interest for analytical membrane separations.

The average diffusivity measures the mobility of the permeant in the membrane matrix. It is kinetic in nature and is largely determined by polymer-permeant dynamics. The diffusional energy is required principally for the rotation and translation of the polymer segments. Several models for describing the relationship between D and activation energy (E) have been proposed [48]. Brandt's model is one of them [50]:

$$D = k v_T \lambda^2 \sum_g \left[\rho_g \frac{(E_z/RT)^{g-1}}{(g-1)!} \right] \exp(-\frac{E_z}{RT})$$
(1-6)

where k is a geometric factor, v_T is the thermal frequency of vibration of the diffusing molecules, λ is mean jump length, E_z is the total energy, g is the number of backbone chain bonds in the bent segments, and $\rho_g = 1/2^g$.

The membrane separation is based on the different permeability of solutes which is controlled by the diffusivity and solubility. In other words, the membrane's intrinsic selectivity is a ratio of permeability which is comprised of the two parameters:

$$\alpha_{i/j} = P_i / P_j \tag{1-7}$$

and

$$P = S \times D \tag{1-8}$$

thus

$$\alpha_{i/j} = (S_i/S_j) (D_j/D_j)$$
(1-9)

where $\alpha_{i/j}$ is selectivity of molecule i and j, P is permeability.

1.2.2.2 Effect of Temperature: Temperature can have a large effect on the permeability of small permeants in polymeric membranes. The temperature dependence of solubility follows an Arrhenius-type relationship [48]:

$$S = S_0 \exp\left(-\Delta E_s / R_c T\right)$$
(1-10)

and

$$\Delta E_{s} \cong V_{1} (\delta_{1} - \delta_{2})^{2} V_{2}^{2}$$
(1-11)

 S_0 is solubility at standard condition, ΔE_s is heat of solution, R_c is gas constant, T is temperature, V_1 and V_2 are volume fraction at state 1 and state 2 respectively, δ_1 and δ_2 are cohesive energy density at state 1 and 2 respectively. Therefore, for permanent gases, the heat of solution is small and positive, and solubility increases with temperature. For other gases and vapors the heat of solution is negative, the solubility decreases with increasing temperature.

The diffusivity exhibits a similar behavior [43]:

$$D = D_0 \exp(-E_d/R_c T)$$
 (1-12)

the E_d is apparent activation energy and always positive thus diffusivity increases with temperature.

Therefore the variation of permeability with temperature depends on the magnitude of the solubility and diffusivity change. For most VOCs in water, in 25° C to 50° C range, diffusivity change dominates permeability which increases with increasing temperature.

1.2.2.3 Concentration Dependence: Virtually in every case where significant

interaction occurs between permeant and membrane, both diffusivity and solubility vary with concentration according to [48]:

$$D = D_0 \exp. \left(\beta_d C\right) \tag{1-13}$$

and

$$S = S_0 \exp(\beta sC) \tag{1-14}$$

where β_d and β_s are constants for the molecule. However, no satisfactory relationship between β_d or β_s and interaction force is available. In analytical application at trace levels, the exponential term can be viewed as 1 and it is safe to assume that concentration doesn't affect permeability.

1.2.2.4 Diffusion Flux: As noted above, steady state diffusion is governed by Fick's first law:

$$F_{ss} = -A D (dC/dx) = A D C_0/l$$
 (1-15)

where F_{ss} is permeation rate at steady state. A is membrane active surface area. C_0 is sample concentration on membrane.

Non-steady-state diffusion is governed by Fick's second law:

$$\delta C(\mathbf{x}, t)/\delta t = -D(\delta^2 C(\mathbf{x}, t)/(\delta \mathbf{x}^2)$$
(1-16)

where C(x, t) is the concentration at position x at time t.

The mathematical solution for diffusion of one step change of concentration is [15]:

$$F_{t} = F_{ss} \{1 + [2\Sigma(-1)^{n} \exp(-(n\pi/1)^{2}Dt)]\}$$
(1-17)

For 2 step concentration change, the boundary conditions are as follows:

when x = 0, at t = 0, concentration C changes from 0 to C_0

at
$$t = 0$$
 to Δt , $C = C_0$

at $t = \Delta t$, C change from C₀ to 0

at
$$t > \Delta t$$
, $C = 0$

where C_0 is the sample concentration on the membrane surface, and Δt is the duration of sample pulse. The mathematical solution for above boundary conditions is [44, 46]:

$$F(t) = F_{ss}[f(u) - \gamma f(u - (D(\Delta t)/l^2))]$$
(1-18)

where F(t) is the permeation rate at time t, D is diffusivity, F_{ss} is the permeation at steady state and equals to DC₀A/l, A is the membrane surface area, l is membrane thickness, u = Dt/l², and C₀ = KC_w, where C_w is the sample concentration in water, K is partition coefficient between membrane and water; $\gamma = 0$, for u < D(Δt)/l², and represents the ascending part of the curve; $\gamma = 1$, for u > D(Δt)/l², represents the descending part of curve.

$$f(\mathbf{u}) = 1 + 2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^n \exp\{-n^2(\pi)^2 \mathbf{u}\}$$
 (1-19)

therefore the permeation rate can be derived as:

$$F = F_{ss} \left\{ \frac{2}{\sqrt{(D/l^2)\pi}} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \exp\left\{-\frac{(n-0.5)}{D/l^2}\right\} \right\} \text{ when } t < \Delta t$$
 (1-20)

$$\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{F}_{ss} \left\{ \frac{2}{\sqrt{(Dt/l^2)\pi}} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \exp\left\{-\frac{(n-0.5)}{Dt/l^2}\right\} - \frac{2}{\sqrt{(Dt/l^2 - D\Delta t/l^2))\pi}} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \exp\left\{-\frac{(n-0.5)}{Dt/l^2 - D\Delta t/l^2}\right\} \right\}$$

when $t > \Delta t$ (1-21)

1.2.2.5 Pervaporation: Pervaporation is the terminology used for membrane separation of solutes from a liquid to a gas phase. The first major research effort in pervaporation was undertaken in the late 50's by Binning and coworkers [51, 52]. Since then, more studies have focused on separation of anhydrous organic mixtures commonly encountered in petrochemical processing. The commercial pervaporation process was successful implemented in late 80's using composite membrane.

In the pervaporation process, in addition to the permeability of the analytes in the membrane, the interaction of analytes with water plays an important role. Polar compounds, especially the compounds which can form hydrogen bonds with water have low extraction efficiency. The low enrichment factors and high detection limits have been reported and are listed in Table 1-1 [23, 53].

Selectivity

In a pervaporation process, the selectivity is a product of the membrane's intrinsic separation factor and the relative volatility of permeant [43]:

$$\alpha_{\text{pervap}} = \alpha_{\text{evap}} \alpha_{\text{mem}} \tag{1-22}$$

where α_{pervap} , α_{evap} , α_{mem} are selectivity of pervaporation, evaporation and membrane respectively. This approach is demonstrated Fig. 1.3a and 1.3b. A typical vapor-liquid equilibrium is defined in the Fig 1.3a for a two-phase gas-liquid system. As it shows, separation is determined by volatility difference with resulting composition of the two phases defined in the vapor-liquid equilibrium diagram. When a pervaporation membrane is imposed, the selectivity is demonstrated in Fig. 1.3b. Intrinsic membrane selectivity greater than 1 enhance the selectivity, whereas those smaller than 1 decrease separation.

| Compounds | Detection limits (ppb) | Enrichment factor |
|------------------------------|------------------------|-------------------|
| Toluene ^a | 0.042 | 65.1 |
| Trichloroethane ^a | 0.28 | 61.8 |
| Acetone ^a | 61.1 | 7.5 |
| Ethanol ^a | 212 | 4.1 |
| Benzene ^b | NA | 11,000 |
| Styrene ^b | NA | 13,000 |
| Ethanol ^b | NA | 7 |
| Acetone ^b | NA | 50 |
| Acetic Acid ^b | NA | 70 |
| Vinyl chloride ^b | NA | 9,000 |

Table 1.1 Enrichment factor and detection limits for some VOCs using silicone membrane extraction

a. From reference 23. b. From reference 53.



Fig. 1.3a and 1.3b Conventional versus membrane-imposed vapor-liquid equilibria. (from reference 43)

.

Boundary Layer

In a pervaporation process, flowing liquid phase containing VOCs contacts one side of membrane, and a stagnant layer is formed at the membrane surface due to the poor mixing of the liquid phase with the membrane surface. This is shown in Fig. 1.4. The degree of mixing is determined by the physical properties of the liquid and the flow conditions that can be represented by the Reynolds number (Re) [54]:

$$Re = d\rho v/\mu \tag{1-23}$$

where d is fiber diameter, ρ is density, ν is velocity and μ is viscosity. The higher the Re number, the better the mixing is. For a thorough mixing, a Re in the range of 20,000 - 30,000 is needed to eliminate the boundary layer. However due to the limitation in allowable flow rate, only a very small Re number can be obtained thus a thick boundary layer is formed which impedes mass transfer across the membrane.

In general, the mass transfer resistances in series are in (1) liquid phase boundary layer (I_b), (2) membrane matrix (I_m) and (3) between membrane surface and gas phase (I_v). Because of the good mass transfer property of gas and the high stripping rate of gas at the outer side of membrane, the I_3 is negligible. The extraction rate of organic molecules from a gas sample has been reported to be much faster compared to that from an aqueous sample [33].

The mass transfer rates in both phases can be expressed as the chemical potential gradient:

$$J_{i} = -k \, d\mu/dx \tag{1-24}$$



Fig. 1.4 Pervaporation diagram showing boundary layer resistance

where k is the proportional coefficient based on chemical potential gradient and μ is chemical potential.

By assuming the linear distribution of the chemical gradient in both media, the following can be obtained:

In membrane matrix:
$$J_i = -k_m/l_m (\mu_{m2}-\mu_{m1})$$
 (1-25)

In boundary layer: $J_i = -K_b(\mu_{b2}-\mu_{b1})$ (1-26)

where the k_m is proportional coefficient in membrane and K_b is mass transfer coefficient in boundary layer based on chemical potential. l_m is the thickness of membrane. The subscript m and b stand for membrane and boundary layer respectively and 1 and 2 stand for incoming and outgoing in that phase respectively.

The overall mass transfer rate can be illustrated as:

or

$$J_{i} = k (\mu_{v1} - \mu_{b1})/l_{m}$$
(1-27)

where the k is proportional coefficient for the overall process. Subscript v stands for vapor phase.

When the equilibrium conditions are applied to the interfaces of liquid layer and membrane, and membrane and vapor phase:

$$\mu_{m1} = \mu_{b2} = \mu_m^* \quad \mu_{m2} = \mu_{v1} = \mu_v^* \tag{1-28}$$

The * stands for equilibrium state. Then the overall resistance is derived as [55]:

$$l_{\rm m}/k = 1/K_{\rm b} + l_{\rm m}/k_{\rm m} \tag{1-29}$$

 $(I) = (I_b) + (I_m)$ (1-30)

I is mass transfer resistance. The equation (1-29) or (1-30) shows the mass transfer resistance is the sum of the resistance in both of water boundary layer and membrane matrix.

The boundary layer acts as a barrier to mass transfer from water to the membrane. The importance of the boundary layer depends on the nature of analytes, membrane thickness and Re. For membrane separation, the primary mass transfer resistance is often assumed in the membrane. However for the solutes having large diffusivity and selectivity and when thin membranes are used, the mass transfer resistance at the liquid boundary layer contributes significantly to the overall transport resistance, and often becomes the primary resistance. Psaume [56] found that for trichloroethylene when Re below 60, the membrane resistance was relatively unimportant and the primary mass transfer resistance was in the boundary layer. Reghunath [55] demonstrated that in a gently agitated system, almost the entire resistance lay in the liquid boundary layer. However, at high stirring speed, both resistance in membrane and in boundary layer were found to be important. Resistance in the membrane primarily determines mass transfer when a thick membrane is used and become insignificant when membrane thickness is reduced. Tsai [57] reported that resistance in aqueous layer is important only for thin membrane extraction process, especially when thickness is less than 0.005 cm. Based on theoretical calculation, the membrane flux doubled when liquid resistance was reduced 10 times. Raghunath's [55] results showed when the membrane thickness reduced to 0.04 cm, the liquid phase resistance accounted for 90 % of total mass transfer resistance for toluene using polyester-block-polyamide membrane.

Permeation of analytes having high solubility and diffusivity in membrane is limited by the aqueous phase resistance. It was reported [55] that solutes having high Henry's law constants, which is true for most volatile compounds, were likely to have their permeation through hydrophobic membranes determined primarily by the boundary layer resistance. While the higher Henry's constant of an analyte usually results in its higher membrane selectivity. The VOCs have large solubility in the membrane thus a concentration depletion zone will be formed, which largely impedes the mass transfer across membrane.

Extraction Efficiency

By studying the influence of flow rate on membrane response, Psaume [56] observed the pervaporation of VOCs was limited by the solute depleted boundary layer at the membrane-liquid interface. Extraction efficiency (EE) was then derived based on film theory.

The solute flux through the membrane wall is given as following based on mass balance on the membrane system:

$$J_{i} = ((Q_{e} \rho)/A) (w'_{i,e} - w'_{i,s})$$
(1-31)

where the Q_e is the water flow rate, ρ is density, A is the internal surface area, w'_{i,e} and w'_{i,s} are weight fraction of analyte at inlet and outlet respectively.

A concentration depletion zone is formed due to the presence of a boundary layer as shown in Fig. 1.5. Several assumptions were made in order to derive the mass balance. The assumptions included steady state, a stagnant polarization layer and negligible connective flow. Then the flux was derived as:



Fig. 1.5 Schematic representation of the polarization phenomenon in the neighborhood of a pervaporation membrane.

$$J_{r,z} dr = D_i \rho dw'_{i,z}$$
(1-32)

Integration across the boundary layer gives

$$J_{r,z} = K_{i,\rho} (w_{i,z} - w_{i,z,m})$$
(1-33)

where the mass transfer coefficient $K_i = D_i / \sigma$ and the w'_{i,z} and w'_{i,z,m} are the concentration at both sides of the boundary layer. The assumption of the w'_{i,z,m} of zero gives

$$J_{r,z} = K_{i,} \rho w_{i,z}^{*}$$
(1-34)

Local mass balance gives Q'_e $\rho dw'_{i,z} = 2\pi R J_{ri,z} dz$ (1-35)

where R is radius of the fiber and the combination of equation (1-34) and (1-35) gives:

$$\ln (w'_{i,e}/w'_{i,s}) = K_i A/Q'_e$$
(1-36)

The K_i was estimated using the Leveque correction [58]:

$$(K_i 2R/D_i) = 1.62 (d^2 \nu/LD_i)$$
(1-37)

v is velocity and L is membrane length.

The extraction efficiency was thus derived as:

$$EE = (w'_{i,e} - w'_{i,s})/w'_{i,e} = 1 - \exp(-6.48 \frac{D_a^{\frac{2}{3}} L^{\frac{2}{3}}}{d^{\frac{4}{3}} v^{\frac{2}{3}}})$$
(1-38)



Polysiloxanes

Polymers with aromatic backbones

Fig. 1.6 Two major categories of polymeric membrane

1.3 Membrane Material

The polymeric membrane can be made from different materials, such as, polycarbonates, polyamides, polysiloxane, etc.. Two common classes are aromatic backbones and polysiloxane as shown in Fig. 1.6. The polymer structure affects the solute diffusivity and solubility. The polymers with aromatic backbones have less free volume and the conjugated π bonds restrict the polymer segment rotation. These membranes have small diffusivities. They are mostly used in gas separation. The polysiloxane membrane have large free volume and the σ bonds among the atoms enable the free rotation of atoms thus the diffusivity is large for most molecules.

CHAPTER 2

RESEARCH OBJECTIVES

The objectives of the research were six fold:

- To develop the system of pulse injection membrane extraction (PIME) based on nonsteady state pervaporation for continuous monitoring of VOCs in water stream;
- To investigate the analytical performance of PIME;
- To investigate the reduction of boundary layer and membrane response characteristics thus enhance the analytical performance of the PIME system;
- To investigate alternative membrane module design to increase membrane extraction efficiency;
- To use PIME for on-line monitoring and compare with OLMEM which was based on steady state permeation;
- To explore membrane extraction on on-line monitoring of SVOCs in water using HPLC analysis.

CHAPTER 3

NON-STEADY STATE, PULSE INTRODUCTION MEMBRANE EXTRACTION OF VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS FROM AQUEOUS MATRIX

3.1 Introduction

Analytical methods for the measurement of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) in water include purge and trap, head space analysis, solid phase microextraction and solid phase extraction. All these techniques involve a separation/extraction step for the isolation of analytes from the aqueous matrix prior to GC or GC/MS analysis. Although these methods have some excellent merits, none are designed for continuous real time extraction, which is desirable for the development of automated, on-line instrumentation.

Use of polymeric membrane for the extraction of organic compounds from an aqueous matrix have received much attention [12-39], where the analysis can be carried out on-line using a GC, or a mass spectrometer (MS) as the detection device. A variety of porous (involving pore flow) and nonporous membrane materials have been evaluated [23, 36-39]. A high extraction selectivity and permeation rate can be achieved for organic analytes by choosing the appropriate membrane and optimum operating condition. Polydimethyl siloxane silicone membranes which provide high diffusivity for different molecules due to the large free volume inside the polymer matrix have been most widely used. Organic compounds have higher solubility in silicone than inorganic molecules such as water, therefore high selectivity is achieved by the membrane. In such nonporous structures, organic molecules first dissolve in the membrane and then diffuse under a concentration gradient. The rate of diffusion depends upon the size and the chemical

nature of the molecule. Steady state permeation flux is described by Fick's first law:

$$J = -D(\delta c / \delta x) \tag{3-1}$$

where the D is the diffusivity and $\delta c/\delta x$ is the concentration gradient.

Analytical application of membrane sampling was first published by Hoch and Kok [12] in 1963. Since then different approaches have been reported, the majority of them focusing on membrane interface for mass spectrometry (MIMS) [13-22]. In MIMS, the sample is contacted on one side of the membrane and the other side is directly exposed to the ion source of a mass spectrometer. Thus the diffused organics are directly introduced into the mass spectrometer. Interface of membrane extraction with GC has also been studied, where sorbent or cryogenic traps have been used for sample concentration prior to GC analysis [23, 35-39]. In both GC and MS applications, the advantage of membrane extraction is that the sample can be extracted continuously by the membrane for automated on-line analysis [20, 21, 23, 36-39]. These techniques have demonstrated high selectivity, large linear dynamic range, sensitive response and the capability of real time measurement [23].

In most reported membrane applications, the samples were continuously introduced into a membrane module, and the permeates were removed continuously. In this approach, measurements are made after permeation reaches steady state. It can take a fairly long time to reach steady state since the diffusion through the membrane and the boundary layer on the membrane surface are slow processes. When the sample concentration changes, the system does not instantly reach steady state, but slowly reaches equilibrium over a period of time. Any measurement during this transition period does not truly reflect the analyte concentration. The time taken to reach equilibrium is referred to as lag time and results in slow instrument response. The lag time is much longer in a GC interface than in a MIMS where the vacuum provides a large partial pressure gradient for rapid mass transfer. In a GC, a positive pressure needs to be maintained at the permeate side to facilitate the flow of carrier gas. Consequently, the lag time is the limiting factor in on-line membrane extraction coupled with gas chromatography. In addition, continuous sample introduction onto membrane is not suitable for analyzing discrete, individual samples of small volume. A relatively large volume needs to flow through the membrane before steady state is reached. Not only does it take a long time, but it is functionally more complex and is not easily amenable to automation.

Recently, flow injection type membrane introduction techniques have been reported for MIMS [40, 57, 59, 60]. In this study, an alternate, non-steady state, pulse introduction membrane extraction method which is suitable for the analysis of small volume individual samples, as well as for continuous on-line monitoring was explored [34, 39]. The elimination of the steady state requirement eliminates the lag time associated with equilibration leading to a faster instrumentation response. Instead of continuous sample introduction, the sample is injected as a pulse, and sample volumes as small as a few microliters can be used. This approach can also be used in continuous monitoring applications by introducing a series of pulses from a flowing aqueous stream. Each injection truly represents the sample concentration when carryover from the previous injection is eliminated. A non-steady state model is presented here to describe this system.

3.2 Experimental Section

The pulse introduction technique which can be used for any membrane extraction application is presented here for a GC interface. The schematic diagram of the experimental system is shown in Fig. 3.1. The aqueous sample is to be introduced as a pulse into the membrane. An eluent stream is used for transporting the sample to the membrane module. The analytes that permeate through are stripped by a countercurrent gas stream. The GC interface is accomplished using a micro-sorbent trap (referred to as a microtrap) which concentrates the organics before injecting them into the GC.

The sample size used was anywhere from 100 microliter to 10 ml depending upon the analysis requirements. The injection was accomplished by a pneumatically controlled 6 port valve (Valco Instruments Co. Inc., Houston, TX). The eluent was HPLC grade high purity water. A HPLC pump was used as the eluent pump. Typical operation consisted of injecting a sample into the eluent stream. A few minutes were allowed for the permeation to complete. The permeated analytes were pneumatically transported to the microtrap by a flow of nitrogen. The analytes were concentrated and then desorbed into the GC for analysis. During continuous on-line monitoring [39], the aqueous stream continuously flowed through the sample loop of the valve, and periodically injections were made into the membrane module. Corresponding to each injection, a chromatogram was obtained.



Fig. 3.1 Schematic diagram of the pulse introduction membrane extraction GC system.

The membrane contractor was a standard shell-and -tube design. The membrane module was made of 12, 8.5 cm long composite membranes of dimension $0.260 \text{ mm OD} \times 0.206 \text{ mm ID}$ (Applied membrane Technology, Minnetonka, MN). The composite structure comprised of 1 µm thick homogenous siloxane film as the active layer supported on a layer of microporous polypropylene. The membrane module was constructed by inserting 12 fibers into a 1/4" OD tubing. At each end of the tubing, a "T" unit (Components & Controls Inc., Carlstadt, NJ) was used to connect the inlet and the outlet for both the nitrogen and the aqueous stream. The connection points of membrane and "T" units were sealed with epoxy to separate nitrogen from the aqueous phase.

The microtrap was a small diameter silica lined tube packed with a small amount of adsorbent. It had low thermal mass and could be heated and cooled rapidly. When nitrogen carrying organics flowed through the microtrap, the analytes were trapped and concentrated. An electrical current heated the microtrap resistibly and the desorption pulse served as an injection for GC analysis. The details of the microtrap and its working principle have been studied in our research group [61, 62]. A 15 cm long, 0.53 mm ID silica lined tubing (Restek Corp., Bellefonte, PA) packed with Carbotrap C (Supelco, Supelco Park, PA) served as the microtrap. A 7-10 amp current was supplied from a 40 V AC power source to heat the microtrap. The duration and the interval between the heat pulses were controlled using a microprocessor based controller fabricated in-house. A HP 5890 series II GC (Hewlett Packard Company, Avondale, PA) equipped with a Flame Ion Detector and a 30 m long, 0.53 mm OD ×0.21 mm ID SE-54 megabore column with

2.4 μm thick stationary phase was used for GC separation. HP Chemstation 3365 software was used for data acquisition and analysis.

3.3 Results and Discussion

3.3.1 Theory of Non-steady State Pulse Introduction

In this approach, the membrane receives a sample pulse of certain duration. The ideal pulse input is an impulse function as shown in Fig. 3.2. Experimentally, this was achieved by injecting the sample onto an eluent stream that transported it to the membrane. This was similar to flow injection type of introduction, except that, after the sample permeates through the membrane a flow of nitrogen could be used to purge/clean the membrane. There was axial mixing between the eluent and the sample at the front and back end of the pulse. Consequently, the ideal pulse was distorted and underwent band broadening. The input concentration profile was experimentally determined and is also shown in Fig. 3.2. This was obtained injecting a 2 ml sample containing toluene and monitoring its exit concentration using a UV detector connected at the outlet of the membrane module. The input profile showed some tailing that increased the duration of the pulse. The permeation profile is also shown in Fig. 3.2. This was measured by monitoring the permeate concentration every 30 seconds by making microtrap injection at that interval. Slow permeation through the boundary layer, and the membrane further broadened the response profile resulting in a skewed bell shaped curve with sample tailing. From Fig. 3.2 it is seen that a 2.5 minutes impulse broadened to 5 minutes due to the axial mixing, and the permeation profile further broadened to 13 minutes due to slow permeation.



Fig. 3.2 Input and permeation profiles in pulse introduction membrane extraction. Membrane response was obtained using 2 ml 31.5 ppb toluene solution at flow rate of 1 ml/min. Input profile was obtained using 2 ml 4.4 ppm toluene solution.

38

For the pulse input described above, membrane permeation never reached equilibrium. Non-steady state permeation can be described by Fick's second law as:

$$\delta C(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{t}) / \delta \mathbf{t} = -D(\delta^2 C(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{t}) / (\delta \mathbf{x}^2)$$
(3-2)

where C(x, t) is the concentration at position x at time t. The boundary conditions are as follows:

When x = 0, at t = 0, concentration C changes from 0 to C_0

at t = 0 to Δt , $C = C_0$ at $t = \Delta t$, C change from C_0 to 0 at $t > \Delta t$, C = 0

where C_0 is the sample concentration on the membrane surface, and Δt is duration of sample pulse. The mathematical solution of equation (3-2) for the above boundary conditions is [44, 46]:

$$F(t) = F_{ss}[f(u) - \gamma f(u - (D(\Delta t)/l^2))]$$
(3-3)

where F is the permeation rate at time t, D is diffusivity, F_{ss} is the permeation at steady state and equals DC_0A/I , A is the membrane surface area, l is membrane thickness, $u = Dt/l^2$, and $C_0 = KC_w$, where C_w is the sample concentration in water, K is partition coefficient between membrane and water; $\gamma = 0$, for $u < D(\Delta t)/l^2$, and represents the ascending part of the curve; $\gamma = 1$, for $u > D(\Delta t)/l^2$, represents the descending part of curve.

$$f(\mathbf{u}) = 1 + 2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^n \exp\{-n^2(\pi)^2 \mathbf{u}\}$$
 (3-4)

Reduced permeation rate F_r is defined as $F(t)/F_{ss}$ thus the equation (3-4) is reduced to

$$F_r = 1+2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^n \exp\{-n^2(\pi)^2 Dt/l^2\}$$
 when $t < \Delta t$ (3-5)

$$F_{r} = 2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{n} \exp\left\{-n^{2}(\pi)^{2} Dt/l^{2}\right\} - 2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{n} \exp\left\{-n^{2}(\pi)^{2} D(t-\Delta t)/l^{2}\right\}$$
when $t > \Delta t$
(3-6)

It's seen that the reduced permeation rate is a function of diffusivity, pulse duration (Δt) and membrane thickness. It has been reported that a thick membrane reduces permeation and prolongs lag time [38], and is consistent with the above equation.

The diffusion coefficient is an important parameter for application of the above equation. Most reported diffusion coefficients in the literature [63] have been obtained by measuring the permeation of pure vapors across a membrane. These high concentrations tend to swell the polymeric membranes which enhances the diffusion. Consequently, diffusion coefficients tend to be much lower for trace concentration samples commonly encountered in analytical application [64]. Furthermore, in a pervaporation process where analyte diffuses from the liquid phase and across the membrane, an aqueous boundary layer is formed on the membrane surface. The organics usually have high solubility in the membrane material resulting in a concentration depletion zone. This boundary layer impedes mass transfer from water to the membrane. It's considered to be the major contributor to mass transfer resistance in thin membrane extraction processes [55, 56].

In order to include the boundary layer resistance and calculate an overall diffusion coefficient for this system, the following approach was taken. From equation (3-5) and (3-6), it can be seen that the maximum value in the reduced permeation profile is a function of Δt . When applied to the maximum value, equation (3-3) can be rewritten as:

$$F_{\text{max}} = F_{\text{ss}} \left\{ 2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^n \exp\left\{ -n^2(\pi)^2 D t_{\text{max}} / l^2 \right\} - 2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^n \exp\left\{ -n^2(\pi)^2 D (t_{\text{max}} - \Delta t) / l^2 \right\} \right\}$$
(3-7)

where F_{max} is the maximum value in the response profile, and t_{max} is the corresponding time when it occurs. These two parameters were determined experimentally. It was observed that the first two terms in the above equation accounted for more than 99% of the total response. By changing the sample size while keeping other conditions the same, Δt was varied. Corresponding to different Δt , different t_{max} and F_{max} were obtained. The overall diffusion coefficient was computed from equation (3-7) using two sets of measurements at two different sample volumes. Overall diffusion coefficient for benzene was found to be 9.04 ×10⁻⁹ cm²/sec. Such a low value indicates the presence of a well formed boundary layer which significantly reduces the permeation rate [55, 56].

The permeation profile was computed according to equation (3-5) and (3-6) using the overall diffusion coefficient and the first 10 terms in the series expansion. The computed and the experimental results for benzene permeation presented in Fig. 3.3 show reasonably good agreement. The observed differences are attributed to the distortion of input profile due to axial mixing.

3.3.2 Effect of Process Parameters

The sample introduction rate affects the system response by changing Δt in equation (3-5) and (3-6). According to equation (3-3), the maximum response in the response profile increases with Δt till it reaches F_{ss}. A slower flow rate represents a longer Δt , the





corresponding profile takes a longer time to reach its maximum, and a higher maximum response can be obtained. A series of sample input, and permeation profiles at different flow rates are shown in Fig. 3.4. It was seen that, the maximum response and the time at which it occurred both increased with decreased flow rate or increased Δt .

A faster flow rate also increased mixing of sample with the eluent resulting in a more dispersed sample introduction. The dispersed volume is defined as the total volume into which the analytes are dispersed, and is calculated as the product of flow rate and the duration of input profile in Fig. 3.4. For example, for a 2 ml injection at eluent flow rates of 1 and 4 ml/min (corresponding to Δt of 2 and 0.5 minutes), the dispersed volume were found to be 9 and 11 ml respectively. A more dispersed sample introduction at higher flow rates reduces the analyte concentration on the membrane surface and effectively the concentration gradient for mass transfer. In order to reduce sample dispersions, low instrument void volume and low flow rates are preferred.

The lag time in pulse introduction is proportional to the duration of the permeation profile, and is defined as $t_{10-10\%}$, which is the time interval between the points corresponding to 10% of maximum response in the ascending and descending parts in the permeation profile. Faster the flow rates, shorter are the Δt , and lag time. Fig. 3.5 is a plot of lag time as a function of Δt . As the flow rate increased, residence time decreased along with lag time. Lower flow rates provided higher response, but increased lag time. One may notice that being a larger molecule, ethylbenzene exhibited longer lag time due to its lower diffusion coefficient.

When flow rate was high, the residence time in the membrane module was low.



Fig. 3.4 Permeation and input concentration profiles at different flow rates. Permeation profiles were obtained using a 8 ml sample containing 75 ppb toluene. Input profiles were obtained using 5 ml sample containing 4.4 ppm toluene.



Fig. 3.5 Lag time as a function of sample duration on membrane module at room temperature. Sample duration was varied by varying eluent flow rates. Experiments were done with 8 ml injection volume using 75 ppb toluene, 67.5 ppb benzene and 60 ppb ethylbenzene.

Consequently, there was less time for permeation which resulted in lower extraction efficiency as shown in Fig. 3.6. At low flow rates, extraction efficiencies as high as 90% were achieved. The partition coefficient of the analytes in the membrane is the determining factor for extraction efficiency. The extraction efficiency for acetone was significantly lower than that of nonpolar benzene and toluene, because acetone has strong affinity for water and consequently low partition coefficient on the membrane. In general, the extraction efficiency can be increased by increasing the residence time either by having low flow rate, or by having a membrane module of longer length.

Sample size was an important variable since the introduction of a larger sample quantity resulted in higher detector response and sensitivity. However, at a given flow rate, a larger size sample increased the Δt , resulting in a broadened permeation profiles that increased lag time. Typical response profiles from different injection volumes are shown in Fig. 3.7. For low concentration samples, a large volume is necessary to achieve low detection limits. For high concentration samples, a small sample volume is preferred to obtain short lag time.

In general, in the pulse introduction approach there is a trade off between sensitivity and lag time that needs to be optimized. The factors such as larger sample volume, and lower flow rate that enhance sensitivity tend to increase the lag time. These parameters need to be adjusted based on the analysis requisite. If concentrations are very low, one will have to live with long lag time. Much of the work in this study was performed with low concentration samples, and injection volumes were between 100 μ l to 10 ml. For high concentration samples, smaller sample volumes can be used to obtain lower lag time.


Fig. 3.6 Extraction efficiency as a function of residence time. A 5 ml sample containing 48 ppm acetone, 54 ppm benzene and 56 ppm toluene was used in this analysis. Membrane temperature was 48 C.



Fig. 3.7 Permeation profiles of 1 ppm toluene as a function of injection volume. Membrane temperature was 50 C and sample flow rate was 3.5 ml/min.

3.3.3 Advantages of Non-steady State Pulse Introduction

As mentioned before, most membrane extraction studies have relied on steady state diffusion, where an equilibrium is reached between concentration of organics in the aqueous and the permeated vapor phase. Since the boundary layer and membrane provide barriers to mass transfer, equilibrium is not reached instantly. The time required to reach equilibrium was determined as follows. A sample containing 53 ppb toluene was continuously introduced into membrane at flow rate of 1 ml/min. For a period of 10 minutes, the concentration was dropped to 27 ppb, after which the concentration was changed back to the original 53 ppb. The system response is presented in Fig. 3.8. The response lagged behind, so that even fifty minutes after the sample concentration came back up to 53 ppb, the response had not reached its original value. Part of this lag time may be attributed to internal volume of tubing and fittings and axial mixing with the eluent. An estimated 10 minutes is attributed to these factors, but the equilibration time was still 40 minutes or more. The objective of this experiment was not to determine the exact equilibration time which is a function of flow rate, but to demonstrate the long time required to reach equilibrium. These results are in line with other published data on time required to reach steady state in pervaporation processes [65, 66]. In a continuous introduction technique, any measurement made when the steady state is not reached does not represent the actual concentration. On the other hand, in PIME, no steady state assumption is made. Each injection truly represents the sample concentration. The only requirement here is the elimination of carryover from the previous sample. This is



Fig. 3.8 System response during continuous sample introduction. A 52.3 ppb toluene solution flowed continuously through the membrane module at 1 ml/min rate. Then the sample concentration was dropped to 27.7 ppb for 10 minutes before being changed back to 52.3 ppb.

equivalent to reducing the lag time, and can be achieved by injecting a smaller sample volume to, and/or by gas purging the membrane after sample has passed through [34, 39].

Another disadvantage of continuous sample introduction is that it is not appropriate for analysis of discrete individual samples. In the pulse introduction approach, individual samples are injected one at a time. Continuous monitoring is easily done by making a series of injection from an automated injection valve [39]. Combination of pulse introduction with a micro-sorbent trap results in a simple instrumentation for on-line extraction/analysis of organics in aqueous matrix.

The system was used to analyze different samples. A typical chromatogram for water sample is shown in Fig. 3.9. The relative standard deviation (RSD) obtained by 7 replicated analysis of 5 ml spiked aqueous sample were 1.3%, 1.6%, and 1.6% for benzene, toluene, and 1,1,-trichlororethane respectively which shows good precision of the pulse introduction technique. A linear relationship between system response and concentration were observed at different flow rates and sample sizes. Fig. 3.10 shows typical calibration curves for several common organics. The method detection limits for 8 ml sample were 0.0012 ppb, 0.0063 ppb, and 0.010 ppb for benzene, toluene, and 1,1,1-trichloroethane respectively at an eluent flow rate of 2.5 ml/min and 0.045 ppb for ethylbenzene at flow rate of 1.2 ml/min. The MDLs were computed based on the standard EPA procedure [67]. One should note that the method detection limit depends upon operating parameters such as membrane module design, residence time and sample volume.



Fig. 3.9 Chromatogram of PIME system



Fig. 3.10 Calibration curves of several organic compounds. Sample volume was 5 ml at eluent flow rate of 1 ml/min. The membrane module temperature was 42 C.

3.4 Conclusion

A pulse introduction method for on-line membrane extraction was explored. A mathematical model was developed for predicting the permeation process. A major advantage here was that it could be used for analysis of individual, small volume samples. The system demonstrated short lag time, low detection limits and high precision.

CHAPTER 4

ENHANCING PERFORMANCE OF PULSE INTRODUCTION MEMBRANE EXTRACTION AND REDUCING BOUNDARY LAYER EFFECTS

4.1 Introduction

When water is contacted with the membrane, a static boundary layer is formed at the membrane surface due to the poor mixing of the aqueous phase with the membrane. The boundary layer serves as an additional diffusional barrier to the permeation process. The degree of mixing depends upon the Reynolds number (Re) which is a function of the flow conditions:

$$Re = \rho v d / \mu \tag{4-1}$$

where ρ is density, ν is velocity, μ is viscosity and d is the diameter of the tubing. The higher the Re, the better is the mixing and less are the boundary layer effects. For turbulent condition which eliminates the boundary layer, a Re of 20,000-30,000 is required. Such high Re numbers require very high flow rates where the pressure drop is enough to rupture the membrane. High flow rates also reduce extraction efficiency thus lowering sensitivity. In a typical analytical-type membrane extraction, Re is less than 300 and a thick boundary layer is encountered. Since the organics have high solubility in the membrane material, a concentration depletion zone is formed in the boundary layer which impedes the mass transfer from water to membrane as shown in Fig. 4.1. In general, the three barriers to mass transfer are the aqueous boundary layer, the membrane and the boundary layer in the gas phase. The overall mass transfer resistance, 1/K is following by considering the individual resistance to be in series [33]:



Cw --- Concentration in water, Cb --- Concentration in boundary layer Cm --- Concentration in membrane surface, Co --- Concentration in gas phase

Fig. 4.1 Concentration profile in aqueous boundary layer and membrane

$$1/K = 1 / K_{wb} + 1/K_m + 1/K_{vb}$$
(4-2)

where the K, K_{wb} , K_m and K_{vb} is the mass transfer coefficient for the overall mass transfer, in the aqueous boundary layer, membrane and the gas boundary layer respectively. Extraction rates of organic molecules from a gas sample have been reported to be much faster compared to that from an aqueous sample [33]. This demonstrates that the aqueous boundary layer is the major impediment to permeation in the extraction of aqueous samples.

The relative importance of the boundary layer resistance depends upon hydrodynamic conditions, and membrane thickness, as well as the nature of analytes. For the analytes having high diffusivity and partition coefficient in the membrane, and when thin membranes are used, boundary layer is the major resistance to permeation [55-57]. For example, it has been reported [56] that the liquid phase resistance accounted for 90 % of total mass transfer resistance for toluene permeation using polyester-block-polyamide membrane when the membrane thickness was less than to 0.4 mm. It has also been reported [56] that the permeation of compounds having high Henry's constant through a hydrophobic membrane is limited by the boundary layer resistance.

In most previous membrane extraction applications in analytical chemistry, the sample was continuously introduced into the membrane. The water sample continuously contacted one side of membrane, and the organic compounds were continuously removed from the permeate side. Here a well formed boundary layer impeded mass transfer, and slowed instrumentation response. In this approach, the measurement was made after the permeation reached steady state, which could take a fairly long time [39]. The transition

period during which equilibrium was being reached did not truly represent the analyte concentration, and no measurement could be made at this time. Another limitation of continuous extraction is that it can not analyze discrete individual samples of small amount, since a large sample amount is needed to reach steady state.

In the previous chapter, we have discussed the non-steady state permeation and the development of PIME system based on non-steady state permeation, pulse introduction membrane extraction. The schematic diagram of the system with modified membrane module is shown in Fig. 4.2. The membrane receives a pulse of sample in an eluent which transports it to the membrane. The permeation takes place over a period of several minutes resulting in a permeation profile with large tailing as shown in Fig. 4.3. In this chapter, the study was aimed at enhancing the performance of PIME, such as, eliminating the permeation tailing, increasing extraction efficiency, by optimizing operating conditions, modifying membrane module design, and developing a process that minimizes boundary layer resistance.

4.2 Experimental Section

The schematic diagram of the experimental system is shown in Fig. 4.2. The aqueous sample is to be introduced as a pulse into the membrane. An eluent stream is used for transporting the sample to the membrane module. The sample size used was anywhere from 100 microliter to 10 ml depending upon analysis requirements. The injection was accomplished by a pneumatically controlled 6 port valve (Valco Instruments Co. Inc., Houston, TX). The eluent was HPLC grade high purity water. A HPLC pump was used as



Fig. 4.2 Schematic diagram of PIME system with spiral membrane module



Fig. 4.3 System response profiles. 48.4 ppb toluene solution at flow rate of 0.8 ml/min was used.

the eluent pump. A three way valve was used for introducing a nitrogen stream into the membrane module. For each injection, a nitrogen could be introduced into the system prior to and/or after sample elution to clean the membrane.

Membrane module was made of composite hollow fiber membranes of dimension 0.260 mm OD×0.206 mm ID (Applied membrane Technology, Minnetonka, MN). The length was anywhere from 10 to 60 cm. The composite structure comprised of 1 μ m thick homogenous siloxane film as the active layer supported on a layer of microporous polypropylene. The membrane module was either straight or spiraled. The later was made by bending the straight module into 3 circles with ID of 6 cm.

The microtrap was a small diameter silica lined tube packed with a small amount of adsorbent. It had low thermal mass and could be heated and cooled rapidly. When nitrogen carrying organics flowed through the microtrap, the organics were trapped and concentrated. An electrical current heated the microtrap resistibly and the desorption pulse served as an injection for GC analysis. The details of the microtrap and its working principle have been studied in our research group [61, 62]. A 15 cm long, 0.53 mm ID silica lined tubing (Restek Corp., Bellefonte, PA) packed with Carbotrap C (Supelco, Supelco Park, PA) served as the microtrap. A 7-10 amp current was supplied from a 40 V AC power source to heat the microtrap. The duration and the interval between the heat pulses were controlled using a microprocessor based controller fabricated in-house. A HP 5890 series II GC (Hewlett Packard Company, Avondale, PA) equipped with a Flame Ion Detector and a 30 m long , 0.53 mm OD ×0.21 mm ID SE-54 megabore column with

2.4 μ m thick stationary phase was used for GC separation. HP Chemstation 3365 software was used for data acquisition and analysis.

4.3 Results and Discussion

By studying the influence of flow rate on membrane permeation, Psaume et al [55] observed that the pervaporation rate of organics is limited by the solute depleted boundary layer at the membrane-liquid interface. Thereafter, based on mass balance on the membrane system, the solute flux through the membrane wall was given as:

$$J_{i} = ((Q_{e} \rho)/A) (w'_{i,e} - w'_{i,s})$$
(4-3)

where the Q_e is the water flow rate, ρ is density, A is the internal surface area, w'_{i,e} and w'_{i,s} are weight fraction of analyte at inlet and outlet respectively. Assuming steady state, stagnant polarization layer and negligible convective flow. Then the flux was given as

$$J_{r,z} = K_{i,\rho} \left(w_{i,z}^{*} - w_{i,z,m}^{*} \right)$$
(4-4)

where the mass transfer coefficient $K_i = D_i / \sigma$ (σ is the boundary layer thickness) and the w'_{i,z} and w'_{i,z,m} are the concentration at both sides of the boundary layer.

Local mass balance gives
$$Q'_e \rho dw'_{i,z} = 2\pi R J_{ri,z} dz$$
 (4-5)

The assumption of the $w'_{i,z,m}$ of zero and the integration of equation (4-5) with boundary conditions:

$$z = 0, w'_{i,0} = w'_{i,e}$$

 $z = L, w'_{i,L} = w'_{i,s}$

gave:

$$\ln (w'_{i,e}/w'_{i,s}) = K_i A/Q'_e$$
(4-6)

The K_i was estimated using the Leveque correction [58]:

$$(K_i 2R/D_i) = 1.62 (d^2 v/Ld_i)$$
 (4-7)

where R and d are the radius and diameter of the fiber respectively, v is the fluid velocity.

The extraction efficiency was thus derived as:

$$EE = (w'_{i,e} - w'_{i,s})/w'_{i,e} = 1 - \exp(-6.48 \frac{D_a^{\frac{2}{3}} L^{\frac{2}{3}}}{d^{\frac{4}{3}} v^{\frac{2}{3}}})$$
(4-8)

Similar equations have also been obtained in other study [36] for porous membrane by assuming the mass transfer is limited by liquid phase.

Since the mass transfer mechanism of "solution and diffusion" are the same whether steady state is reached or not, the equation can be adopted for non-steady state permeation. To confirm that, we investigated the system response for steady state permeation and non-steady state permeation. The results showed that for the same amount of sample (3 ml), both system response differences were less than 2% which is in the range of analysis deviation which is shown in Fig. 4.4. For small amount samples (0.4 ml), "clean membrane effect" which increases extraction efficiency reported [39] will be discussed in the next chapter. In this case, a factor of K_1 can account for the extraction increasing. Therefore the system response in pulse introduction can be given as:

$$M = K_1 \times K_2 \times C \times V \times (EE) = K \times C \times V \times [1 - \exp. (-6.48 \frac{D_o^{\frac{4}{3}} L^{\frac{2}{3}}}{d^{\frac{4}{3}} v^{\frac{2}{3}}})]$$
(4-9)

where M is the system response, K_2 is a response factor for the analyte, C is the analyte concentration in water sample and V is the sample volume.



Fig. 4.4 Comparison of system response for sample pulse injection and continuous introduction. Water sample flow rate of 2 ml/min was used.

In order to see if the above equation was applicable for the PIME system, the system response was plotted as a function of $\{1-\exp[-6.48 (\frac{D_a^{\frac{2}{3}}L^{\frac{2}{3}}}{d^{\frac{1}{3}}y^{\frac{2}{3}}})]\}$ as shown in Fig. 4.5.

Diffusivities of benzene and toluene in water were calculated from Wilke-Chang equation [68] and the molar volumes of benzene and toluene used for the calculations were obtained from the literature [69]. The experiments were done with a 8 ml sample containing 67.5 ppb benzene and 75 ppb toluene. Water velocity was varied while fiber diameter and length were fixed. A linear fit with r^2 of 0.993 and 0.996 were obtained for benzene and toluene respectively. This demonstrated the applicability of the above equation to the PIME system. Since the equation (4-9) was obtained by assuming that the permeation across the boundary layer is the rate determining step, this fit further confirms the importance of the boundary layer.

Flow rate is an important parameter according to above equation. As flow rate increased, the residence time decreased and there was less time for permeation. Consequently a large fraction of the analytes went through unextracted. In continuous membrane extraction, it has been reported [23] that the system response increased as the flow rate increased because more sample was brought into the membrane. However, as flow rate increased further, the response stabilized because extraction efficiency decreased resulting in no additional permeation flux. In the PIME, the sample amount is fixed, so a reduction in extraction efficiency reduces system response. Fig. 4.6 is a plot of system response vs. flow rate. Both calculated response using equation (4-9) and experimental response were presented here. The constants in equation (4-9) were obtained from the regression line in Fig. 4.5. Both figures showed good fit between the





equation and experimental results and it demonstrated the importance of flow rate in the pulse introduction system.

Lag time in PIME is defined as the time interval between 10% of the maximum response in the ascending and the descending part in the response profile as shown in Fig. 4.3. It is a measure of the duration over which the permeation process takes place. Lag time is an important parameter in membrane extraction, because it is directly related to frequency of analysis. A sample can be injected only after the permeation from previous sample has reached completion. A slow flow rate is preferred for high extraction efficiency. However slow flow rate also reduces Re and results in slower mass transfer due to the formation of thick boundary layer. The combination of longer residence time and slower mass transfer results in longer lag time. Thus flow rate provides a trade off between sensitivity and lag time.

Sample volume also affects the system response and lag time. At the same flow rate, system response is proportional to sample size as shown in Fig. 4.7. A large sample contains a larger mass of analytes resulting in a larger detector response. However, a large sample also stays longer in the membrane increasing the lag time and this is shown in Fig. 4.3. Therefore, increasing sample size is not necessarily an ideal approach for increasing system response.

4.3.1 Membrane Module Design

From a practical point of view, the lag time is the limiting factor that prevents the use of very large sample volume or very low flow rates. To enhance the performance of PIME,



Fig. 4.6 Response as a function of sample velocity. A 8 ml sample containing 67.5 ppb benzene and 75 ppb toluene was used in these experiments.



Fig. 4.7 Response as a function of injection volume for a sample containing 87.4 ppb benzene and 173.4 ppb toluene.

alternative approaches need to be studied to obtain high extraction efficiency and short lag time. Extraction efficiency can be increased by increasing membrane active surface area. Multiple hollow fibers packed into module has been used to increase active surface area and consequently system response [33].

For a fixed sample amount injected during pulse introduction, system response increases with extraction efficiency. According to equation (4-8), extraction efficiency will increase with the length of the membrane module as long as the membrane length is shorter than that required for exhaustive quantitative extraction. PIME response and the calculated response using equation (4-9) as a function of membrane length (other conditions remaining constant) are both presented in Fig. 4.8 for a 0.7 ml sample containing 30 ppb benzene and 40 ppb chlorobenzene. The constants in equation (4-9)

were obtained from the regression of system response to $\{[1-\exp[-6.48(\frac{D_a^{\frac{2}{3}}L^{\frac{2}{3}}}{d^{\frac{4}{3}}v^{\frac{2}{3}}})]\}$ where

the length was varied and the other variables were kept constant. The diffusivity of benzene and chlorobenzene were calculated as mentioned before. A good fit between the experimental results and the equation is seen. It also shows that increasing membrane length is an effective approach of increasing efficiency and thus sensitivity.

When a small sample is used, a short lag time can be obtained. For 0.7 ml sample containing 40 ppb of benzene and toluene, lag times were 2.6 and 3.3 minutes for benzene and toluene respectively in a 10 cm module. The lag time increased to 2.8 minutes for benzene and 4.1 minutes for toluene on a 40 cm fiber module. Therefore, a long fiber does not significantly affect lag time.



Fig. 4.8 System response as a function of membrane length. A 0.7 ml sample containing 30 ppb benzene at an eluent flow rate of 1 ml/min was used.

A comparison of sensitivity for 10 cm and 40 cm long membrane fiber is presented in Fig. 4.9. The figure shows that longer membrane fibers, the higher is the sensitivity due to its higher extraction efficiency. The ratio of the slope of calibration curves of the 40 cm hollow fiber to that of the 10 cm is 2.02, and it shows that increasing the membrane length is a simple and efficient method to increase analytical sensitivity. For an efficient analysis, a long membrane module with multiple fibers appeared to be more practical than reducing sample flow rate and/or increasing sample size.

Extraction efficiency of benzene as calculated from equation (4-8) is presented in Fig. 4.10 for different conditions, e.g. sample flow rate, membrane module length and number of hollow fibers. Based on equation (4-8), using a module with 7 pieces of the hollow fiber with length of 70 cm at an eluent flow rate of 1 ml/min (or similar combinations, for example, 12 pieces of hollow fiber with length of 19 cm at flow rate of 0.5 ml/min), extraction efficiency of benzene would be 90%.

Previous studies have shown that the boundary layer resistance can be reduced by increasing Re [55-56]. But as mentioned before, the increased flow rate reduces sample residence time on membrane thus lower system response. More turbulence can also be brought about by having a flow pattern that changes direction. This would reduce the thickness of the boundary layer and introduce more mixing of the sample on the membrane surface. A spiral membrane module was fabricated. The spiral configuration allows the sample to flow in a circular path inside the membrane thus disrupting the boundary layer as shown in Fig. 4.11. This geometry also provides a practical way of reducing the physical length of the membrane module. For example, a 70 cm long module



Fig. 4.9 Comparison of sensitivity for different membrane module design. A 0.7 ml sample at an eluent flow rate of 1 ml/min was used.



Fig. 4.10 Calculated extraction efficiency of benzene as a function of membrane fiber length. The membrane module contained 12 pieces of hollow fibers.



C* --- Concentration in water, Cb --- Concentration in boundary layer Cm --- Concentration in membrane surface, Co --- Concentration in gas phase

Fig. 4.11 Reduced boundary layer thickness by changing flow direction of fluid

mentioned above was made into spiral of 8 cm diameter. A comparison of sensitivity between straight and spiral module of same length is also presented in Fig. 4.9. The spiral configuration consistently generated higher response than the straight module. The signal enhancement of the spiral membrane module confirms the presence of a concentration depletion zone and demonstrates that the mass transfer is limited by the boundary layer.

4.3.2 Elimination of Boundary Layer by Nitrogen Purge

In PIME, either a gas or a liquid can be used as the eluent. The main difference between gas and liquid is their transport properties, i.e. diffusivity, viscosity, and density. Reynolds number can be used to normalize the difference between gases and liquids [33]. Membrane extraction from gases and aqueous media follow the same pattern. As diffusion coefficients are significantly higher in gases, the boundary layer resistance is practically negligible compared to the aqueous layer or the membrane. Consequently, the lag time in gas extraction is significantly shorter compared to that in water. However, the problem with gas elution of the water sample is that a high pressure is required for sample elution which results in a high flow rate thus reduce the residence time and consequently the extraction efficiency.

A short lag time is required to eliminate memory effects so that samples can be analyzed frequently. It is also an important factor in continuous on-line analysis. In PIME, a sample pulse is introduced into the membrane and an eluent serves as a carrier fluid. The axial mixing of the sample with the eluent broadens the input pulse. We have discussed the slow permeation through the boundary layer and the membrane broadened

the permeation profile in the previous chapter. The tailing part of the sample input profile makes little contribution to the system response but significantly increases the lag time.

In the PIME system presented here, water was used for eluting the sample for a predetermined period of time. Then a flow of inert gas, such as nitrogen was used to purge the membrane to eliminate the tailing part of sample input and the boundary layer. A three way valve shown as in Fig. 4.2 was used to introduce the nitrogen purge. The purge was turned on depending upon the performance requirements. The effect of the purge interval (interval between sample input and nitrogen purge) is seen in Fig. 4.12. If no nitrogen purge was used, the response continues for nearly 25 minutes. If the purge was turned on after 1 minute, the response duration was only 5 minutes. However some sensitivity was lost because much of the sample passes unextracted. In general, the longer the purge interval, closer is the response to the maximum possible sensitivity, but longer is the lag time. If the purge is turned on where the profile tailing is seen, relatively less sensitivity is lost but lag time is significantly reduced. For example, it can be seen from Table 4.1, that when the purge is turned on 6 minutes after sample elution, the lag time reduced by almost 50%, with only 16.8% loss in sensitivity. In general, the trade off between lag time and sensitivity depends upon what point the nitrogen purge is turned on as shown in Table 4.1. By starting nitrogen purging, the lag time can be reduced but sensitivity will also decrease. For high concentration samples, an early nitrogen purge is recommended, where as for low concentration samples, the purge should be initiated later.



Fig. 4.12 The effect of nitrogen purge on system response and lag time. The nitrogen was turned on after a predetermined period of water elution. The experiments were done with 37.5 ppb toluene, injection volume was 3 ml at an eluent flow rate of 1 ml/min.

| | Lag Time for Benzene (min) | Lag Time for Toluene (min) | Lag Time for Chlorobenzene (min) | Reduction in System Response for Toluene (%) |
|--|-------------------------------|-------------------------------|-------------------------------------|--|
| Water elution | 23 | 24.5 | 24.5 | 0 |
| 9 minutes water elution followed by nitrogen purging | 14 | 14 | 15.5 | 19.8 |
| 6 minutes water elution followed by nitrogen purging | 12.5 | 12.5 | 12.5 | 16.8 |
| 5 minutes water elution followed by nitrogen purging | 11 | 9.5 | 9.5 | 32.9 |
| 4 minutes water elution followed by nitrogen purging | 9.5 | 9.5 | 8 | 46.2 |
| 3.6 minutes water elution followed by nitrogen purging | 9.5 | 8 | 8 | 56.3 |
| 2 minutes water elution followed by nitrogen purging | 8 | 6.5 | 8 | 72.1 |
| 1 minute water elution followed by nitrogen purging | 6.5 | 5 | 6.5 | 84.8 |
| Nitrogen elution only | 3.5 | 2 | 5 | 96.7 |

 Table 4.1 Reduction in Lag Time and Loss in Sensitivity in Nitrogen Purged Elution



Fig. 4.13 Permeation profiles in nitrogen purged and unpurged membranes. Nitrogen was turned on 6 minutes after sample injection. A 2 ml sample containing 27.3 ppb toluene, at an eluent flow rate of 0.8 ml/min was used.

Another advantage of the nitrogen purge is that the nitrogen purge cleans the membrane by eliminating the aqueous boundary layer that formed at the surface. As a result, when the next sample is injected, it encounters no boundary layer and a high permeation rate is obtained. Eventually, as the sample is eluted, the boundary layer is re-established. Consequently, a higher overall extraction efficiency is expected in the gas purged PIME. A comparison between nitrogen purged membrane with only water elution is presented in Fig. 4.13. It is clearly seen that along with a shorter lag time, the response is significantly higher in the nitrogen purged membrane. In this experiment with toluene, the response was 33% higher in the purged membrane as compared to the one with aqueous elution only. The sample initially encountered a "clean" membrane with no boundary layer and since the contact period with the membrane was only 6 minutes, a fully developed boundary layer was never formed. However, in case of water elution where an aqueous solution continuously flowed through the membrane, a fully developed boundary layer was always encountered.

4.4 Conclusion

The system performances in terms of lag time and sensitivity were studied. Sensitivity was increased by increasing the extraction efficiency, and reducing the thickness of boundary layer. Eluent flow rate and sample size were important factors for a high response and a short lag time. A spiral membrane module with a long hollow fiber provided enhanced sensitivity; and nitrogen purge was effective in reducing lag time and enhancing sensitivity.

CHAPTER 5

CONTINUOUS MONITORING OF VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS IN WATER USING PULSE INTRODUCTION MEMBRANE EXTRACTION (PIME)

5.1 Introduction

Conventional analytical techniques for measurement of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) in water are purge and trap, and head space analysis. These processes usually involve distinctive steps, such as, sampling at site, transportation, storage, and sample preparation before GC analysis. Sample loss and cross contamination during any of these steps can introduce errors in the measurements. These techniques are designed for laboratory analysis of discrete samples and are not suitable for continuous, on-line monitoring. Laboratory analysis is also expensive and limits the number of samples that can be analyzed. In these techniques each sample represents concentration of the sample at a given point in time or space and information on temporal variations in a sample stream is not obtained. At present, there is a real need for instrumentation for continuous monitoring of trace level organic compounds in waste water discharge and process streams. This is especially true as clean fresh water becomes scarce and water recycling becomes more prevalent. Continuous monitoring of high purity water in semi-conductor manufacturing is another important application. For a continuous monitoring technique, the separation of organics from water matrix has to be carried out on-line in a continuous fashion prior to analysis by an instrument. On the whole, the advantage of continuous monitoring is high quality data at a lower analytical cost.
Membranes offer the advantage of continuous on-line extraction of analytes, because the sample can be introduced continuously on the feed side, while the analytes permeate selectively to the permeate side where they are removed. Membrane have been used in a variety of applications such as gas separation, dehumidification, dialysis, osmosis and reverse osmosis[43]. Although industrial scale membrane process have been around for many years, the analytical applications are limited. Most common analytical applications of membrane extraction have been the development of membrane interface with mass spectrometer (MIMS) [14-21], where the sample continuously flow at the feed side of the membrane and the permeated organics are led directly into the ion source of the mass spectrometer. Membrane interface with mass spectrometer has been used in continuous monitoring of water and air streams [15-19]. Continuous in vivo mass spectrometric determination of select organics in blood with a membrane probe has also been reported [20]. However, real world environmental samples usually contain numerous species which results in a complex mass spectrum that is difficult to interpret. In some cases, gentle ionization techniques are used to avoid extensive fragmentation to obtain a simple spectrum. In MIMS, the vacuum in the mass spectrometer provides a large partial pressure gradient required for mass transfer across the membrane. In gas chromatography, the driving force for mass transfer is significantly less because a positive pressure has to be maintained for the flow of carrier gas. Over the past few years, we have reported the On-line Membrane Extraction Microtrap Gas Chromatography development of (OLMEM-GC) [23, 33, 37] for continuous monitoring of organics in water and air. In OLMEM-GC, water or air sample continuously flowed into membrane module and nitrogen flowed countercurrently at the permeate side to strip the permeated organic compounds into a vapor phase. The organics were transported to and concentrated in a micro-sorbent trap (referred to as the microtrap). The microtrap is a silica lined tube packed with sorbent. The concentrated organics were injected onto a GC column by rapid thermal desorption of the microtrap using a 1.2 seconds pulse of electrical current. Continuous monitoring of water stream was performed by running the water continuously though the membrane and periodically making microtrap injections. Corresponding to each injection, a chromatogram was obtained. This method demonstrated high precision, large linear dynamic range, low detection limits and the ability to monitor a variety of organic compounds in water.

In general, most analytical applications of membrane extraction have involved continuous introduction of the sample into the membrane. In these studies, the measurements were made after membrane permeation reached a steady state. Since the diffusion of analytes in the aqueous matrix, and through the membrane is a slow process, it takes a certain amount of time to reach steady state. Any measurement made during the unsteady state period does not represent the true concentration of the sample stream. Furthermore, a relatively large sample volume is needed for the analysis because the sample has to be introduced continuously. This is especially true when steady state is not reached instantly. Another limitation of this approach is that the sample could only be introduced as a flowing stream. There was no way to inject discrete samples. So, these techniques are limited to continuous monitoring application.

In the previous chapters, we have discussed the development of an alternative approach for continuous on-line membrane extraction referred to as pulse introduction membrane extraction (PIME). Here a pulse of sample is injected into the membrane for extraction. This concept can be used in gas chromatography, mass spectrometry, as well as other analytical techniques. In this study, the GC application (PIME-GC) is presented. The permeated organics are stripped by a flow of nitrogen, concentrated and injected into the GC using a microtrap. The system does not need to reach steady state, thus the errors associated with steady state requirement are eliminated. The lag time in PIME-GC is an important parameter since it determines the frequency at which the analysis can be carried out. It has been reported [55-57] that the mass transfer resistance in stagnant aqueous boundary layer formed on the membrane surface due to poor mixing of water with the membrane significantly reduces the permeation flux. In PIME-GC system, a pulse of nitrogen is used before and after the sample injection to eliminate the boundary layer and reduce the response time. The nitrogen purge of the membrane before the sample elution eliminates the existing boundary layer and increases permeation flux. Nitrogen purge membrane after the sample has passed through eliminates the sample tailing. This reduces response time and eliminates the boundary layer that is formed as sample passes membrane module.

In this study, the application of PIME-GC for continuous analysis of VOCs in a water stream is reported. A sample valve is used for injecting samples onto an eluent stream which carries it to the membrane. Continuous monitoring is done by injecting water sample into the membrane at predetermined intervals. Corresponding to each

sample loading, a chromatogram is obtained. A short lag time is required for continuous monitoring. In this study, conditions for short lag time are presented. A comparison of PIME with steady state, continuous sample introduction is also presented.

5.2 Experimental Section

The PIME-GC system is shown on Fig. 5.1. The water sample was injected using an automatic 6 port valve. Membrane module was made of 20 pieces of 0.290 mm $OD\times0.240$ mm ID composite membrane (Applied membrane Technology, Minnetonka, MN). The membrane is comprised of 1 μ m thick film of homogenous siloxane supported on microporous polypropylene fiber. The membrane module was constructed by inserting hollow fiber membranes into a 1/8" OD stainless tubing.

The microtrap was made from 15 cm long, 0.5 mm ID silcosteel tube (Restek Corp.) packed with carbotrap C (Supelco, Supelco Park, PA). The microtrap was heated with a 1.2 second pulse of 10 amperes current supplied by a Variac. Mili Q water was used as the eluent and was pumped through the system using an HPLC pump. A HP 5890 series II GC (Hewlett Packard Company, Avondale, PA) equipped with a Flame Ion Detector and a 30 m long , 0.53 mm OD \times 0.21 mm ID SE-54 column with 2.4 µm thick stationary phase were used for analysis. A HP chemstation 3365 software package was used for data acquisition.

The sample stream flowed continuously through the sample loop of the injection valve. Periodically injections were made, and the eluent transported the sample to the membrane. Each injection sent a pulse of sample into the membrane module. Flow



Fig. 5.1 Schematic diagram of the pulse introduction membrane extraction GC system.

through configuration was used, i, e, water sample passed the inside of membrane while nitrogen stream passed on the outside of membrane contercurrent to water flow. The nitrogen served as a stripping gas as well as a carrier gas for GC. Analytes from water permeated through the membrane to the outside of the membrane, were stripped by nitrogen gas and concentrated by the microtrap. After the sample passed through the membrane and the permeation was complete, the microtrap was thermally desorbed to inject the sample into the GC. For large sample volumes, for which the response time is large, a flow of nitrogen was used to clean the membrane after sample passed through it. A three way valve was used to introduce the nitrogen purge. The interval between the sample injection and the nitrogen purge was optimized.

The continuous monitoring was done by injecting the sample at regular intervals and corresponding to each injection, a microtrap pulse generated a chromatogram. The membrane module was maintained at 50° c to accelerate the diffusion. All transfer lines between the membrane module and the microtrap were heated to 70° c to prevent condensation of organics.

5.3 Results and Discussion

5.3.1 Continuous Monitoring of Water with PIME-GC

Continuous, on-line monitoring involves making a series of injections. An important consideration in membrane extraction is the slow permeation rate of the analytes through the boundary layer and the membrane. For each sample injected, the permeation of analyte must be complete before the next sample can be injected. To determine the time required for extraction, a sample was injected and the microtrap was pulsed every 30 seconds to monitor the permeate concentration. Permeation profiles as shown in Fig. 5.2 were obtained. The response time which is the duration of the permeation profile increased with sample size, and can be reduced by nitrogen purge as mentioned before.

In this study two different approaches were taken to carry out continuous monitoring at relatively high frequency (every few minutes), while having the sensitivity to analyze at ppb levels. The first approach was to inject a small sample volume (0.4 ml) to ensure short response time of 5 minutes. A small volume sample passes rapidly through the membrane resulting in a reduced response time. A long membrane module was used to ensure high extraction efficiency. The other approach was to use a relative larger volume sample (2 ml), and then to use a nitrogen purge to reduce the response time. For the 2 ml sample, the response time was 12.5 minutes. However, by initiating nitrogen purge 4 minutes after sample injection, the response time decreased to 5 minutes. From the response profiles shown in Fig. 5.2 it can be seen that response time was limited to 5 minutes in either case, and continuous monitoring of water at that interval was possible.

A series of chromatograms from repeated injections of 0.4 ml sample without nitrogen purge is shown in Fig. 5.3. Here the water sample containing 30 ppb of benzene, 30 ppb of toluene and 40 ppb of chlorobenzene was analyzed. For the sake of brevity, a similar series of chromatograms from 2 ml sample injection with nitrogen purge of the membrane is not presented here. Here the analysis frequency was limited by the separation time on GC column rather than the response time of membrane permeation. Each injection represented concentration of the sample stream at a point in time. Since



Fig. 5.2 Permeation profiles of benzene. A sample containing 48 .7 ppb benzene at an eluent flow rate of 0.8 ml/min was used.

any carryover from a previous injection would introduce error, it was important that the response in Fig. 5.2 came down to zero before the next injection was made.

Figure 5.3 shows good reproducibilities of retention time, peak shape as well as peak area and demonstrated the applicability of PIME in continuous monitoring. Relative standard deviations based on five replicate injections of benzene, toluene and chlorobenzene were 3.5%, 2.6% and 3.3 % respectively for 0.4 ml sample injection and 5.3%, 5.6% and 5.7% for 2 ml sample injection with nitrogen purge membrane. This shows the good precision of the analytical system. Typical calibration curves for different organics are shown in Fig. 5.4. The data presented here is for 1 ml sample injection followed by nitrogen purge of the membrane. The system demonstrated linear response in the low ppb levels studied here.

Short response times could be obtained by both approaches mentioned above and both are suitable for continuous monitoring. The advantage of large sample loop with nitrogen purge is that a larger amount of sample is injected resulting in a larger detector response thus higher sensitivity. The advantage of using a small injection volume without nitrogen purge is that the instrumentation and the operation is simpler. The method detection limits (MDLs) for 0.4 ml injection were 0.0031 ppb, 0.0068 ppb and 0.0035 ppb for benzene, toluene and chlorobenzene respectively. The MDLs were evaluated by 7 replicates and calculated according to EPA standard method [67]. Lower detection limits are expected with 2 ml sample with nitrogen purge since more sample can be injected.



Fig. 5.3 Series of chromatograms of continuous monitoring a water stream



بالمتحاص

Fig. 5.4 Calibration curves for different VOCs in PIME. A 1 ml sample at flow rate of 0.8 ml/min was used. Nitrogen was turned on 5 minutes after sample injection.

5.3.2 Comparison with Continuous Sample Introduction

The pulse sample introduction approach of PIME was compared with continuous sample introduction of OLMEM. Different from PIME, in OLMEM, the water sample continuously flowed through the feed side of the membrane and the contercurrent gas stream continuously stripped the permeated organics. The organics were concentrated and injected by the microtrap at regular intervals into the GC. Since the sample flows continuously, nitrogen purge of membrane can not be used to break the boundary layer. There is also no way of injecting individual samples in this approach and it can only be used for on-line analysis. PIME is a versatile system where individual sample can also be analyzed by manually injecting the samples. The differences between the two systems can be understood by studying the permeation process.

The flux across the membrane according to Fick's laws is:

$$J = -D(\partial C/\partial x)$$
(5-1)

where the J is the flux, D is the diffusivity of the compound in the membrane, C is the analyte concentration in membrane, and x is the position along membrane thickness. Fick's second law describes the analyte concentration as a function of membrane thickness and time:

$$\partial C/\partial t = -D_{AB}(\partial^2 C/\partial x^2)$$
(5-2)

In OLMEM, the water sample continuously flows through the membrane and the measurements are made when the permeation reaches steady state. Therefore the left side of equation (5-2) is zero, and the concentration distribution in membrane is linear ($\partial C/\partial x$ is a constant). Assuming the concentration at the permeate side to be zero due to the high

nitrogen stripping rate, integration of equation (5-1) along the membrane thickness results in a steady state permeation flux J_{ss} :

$$J_{ss} = D(C/L) \tag{5-3}$$

where L is membrane thickness. The steady state permeation flux is constant for a certain sample concentration C at fixed operating conditions.

On the other hand, in PIME, the membrane receives a sample pulse of certain duration (Δt) and the permeation does not reach steady state. For a pulse sample input, the boundary conditions are as follows:

At the feed side, at time
$$t = 0$$
, $C = 0$, changes to $C = kC$
at $0 < t < \Delta t$, $C = kC^*$
at $t = \Delta t$, $C = kC^*$, change to $C = 0$
at $t > \Delta t$, $C = 0$

C is the analyte concentration at membrane surface, C* is concentration in water and k is the distribution coefficient of the organic between water and membrane. The mathematical solution for equation (6-1) and (6-2) for the PIME system is [44, 46]

$$J_{ns.} = J_{ss}(1+2\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^n \exp\{-n^2(\pi)^2(D(t)/l^2)\}) \text{ when } t < \Delta t$$
 (5-4)

$$J_{ns.} = J_{ss} \left(2\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^n \exp\left(\left\{ -n^2(\pi)^2 (D(t)/l^2) \right\} - 2\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^n \exp\left(\left\{ -n^2(\pi)^2 ((D/l^2) (t-\Delta t)) \right\} \right) \right)$$

when $t > \Delta t$ (5-5)

So, along with the sample concentration, the permeation flux is also a function of time in the PIME system. The permeation profile is similar to Gaussian distribution shown in Figure 5.2. The Δt which is determined by the sample size and flow rate is an

important parameter for system response (i. e. sensitivity) and response time. The analysis time is limited by the response time for a complete permeation. According to equation (5-4), if the Δt is very long, the system approaches steady state.

Analyte diffusion through boundary layer and the membrane matrix are the major resistance to mass transfer and are the rate limiting steps. The system also has a certain internal volume. Thus it takes a certain amount of time to reach steady state. In this study, the time required to reach steady state was experimentally determined. Fig. 5.5 shows the response of the analytical system to a step change in concentration. As the concentration changed from 45 ppb to 14.5 ppb at a flow rate of 1 ml/min, the system response lagged behind and it took more than 40 minutes to reach the 14.5 ppb level. This demonstrated that the time required for equilibrium is fairly long. In continuous sample introduction methods, where steady state is a prerequisite, a measurement in the non-equilibrium region does not represent the true value. In this region, each chromatogram is an average response proportional to the permeation over that injection interval. This is only an approximation. For error-free analysis, one has to wait till steady state is reached before doing the next analysis. On the other hand, the PIME system has no steady state requirement and each injection truly represents the sample concentration. The only consideration is the elimination of carryover from the previous sample, which was taken care either by nitrogen purge or by using small sample volume.



Fig. 5.5 System response of OLMEM system during sample concentration change. During the monitoring, toluene concentration changed from 45.4 ppb to 14.5 ppb. Flow rate of 1ml/min was used.

5.3.3 Advantage of "Fresh Membrane"

The theory of "sorption and diffusion" is widely used to describe permeation through nonporous membrane. The solute first partition into membrane surface and an equilibrium is established between the aqueous sample and membrane. The concentrations of organics in the membrane depends upon the partition coefficient according to:

$$C = kC_w \tag{5-7}$$

The dissolved solute rotates and translates the polymer segment utilizing the diffusion activation energy and then creates a suitable size vacancy to jump in. The diffusion direction is determined by the concentration gradient. In the membrane permeation process, the diffusion is found to be the rate limiting step. This is also consistent with our observation in Fig. 5.2, where the sample was in contact with the membrane for only 0.5 minutes, the response time was 5 minutes or more.

When sample is carried to the membrane by water, the front part of sample pulse immediately dissolves in the "fresh membrane" where the analytes concentration is zero, providing a large driving force for diffusion. The tailing part of pulse now encounters membrane that has some analytes within it. Thus the driving force is lower in this section of the sample pulse. The phenomena can be illustrated as follows. The analyte uptake ΔM at any time is the amount of analytes in the membrane minus what was already there.

$$\Delta M_{\rm f} = V_{\rm m} \,\mathrm{C} \, -0 = V_{\rm m} \,\mathrm{kC}_{\rm w} \tag{5-8}$$

 ΔM_f is the mass uptake for the front part of the pulse encountering "fresh membrane". Here the V_m is the membrane volume. The analyte uptake ΔM_l in the tailing part of the sample pulse, where original concentration in membrane is C₀:

$$\Delta M_{l} = V_{m} C - V_{m} C_{0} = V_{m} (kC_{w} - C_{0})$$
(5-9)

It is evident that the analytes uptake of the later part of the sample pulse is less than that of front part. Fig. 5.6 is plot of response per unit volume sample v.s. sample volumes of same concentration sample injected into membrane. No gas purge of the membrane was done here. A sample containing 100 ppb of benzene and toluene, and an eluent flow rate of 1 ml/min were used here. The Response/Volume for 5 ml sample is assumed to be 1. (this is to normalize the response of different volume and different chemicals.) As the sample volume increased, the response per unit of volume decreased because relatively lesser amount of analyte encountered the "fresh membrane". The curve is more or less flattened past 3 ml, and possibly equilibrium was reached in this region. Beyond this, the response was controlled by the rate of diffusion through membrane rather than sorption or dissolution in the membrane. This indicates that for the same amount of analytes, small sample injected on a "fresh membrane" would provide higher sensitivity than sample continuously flowing into the membrane. A sensitivity comparison of 0.4 ml sample introduced by PIME and OLMEM systems under similar operating conditions was carried out and the results are shown in Fig. 5.7. In PIME, 0.4 ml sample was injected onto the "fresh membrane" while in OLMEM, sample continuously flowed into the membrane. When reaching steady-state, the analyte in the membrane surface established an equilibrium with diffusional analytes in the membrane thus reducing the driving force



Fig. 5.6 Response per unit of sample volume as a function of sample volume. Samples containing 100 ppb benzene and toluene at flow rate of 1 ml/min were used. The response per unit of sample volume for 5 ml sample were assumed to be 1.



Fig. 5.7 Comparison of sensitivity for PIME and OLMEM based on fresh membrane effect. 0.4 ml toluene samples at flow rate of 0.7 ml/min were used.

for dissolution. The slope of the calibration curve for PIME was 1.67 times larger than that of the OLMEM demonstrating a higher sensitivity of this approach. Method detection limits (MDLs) for 0.4 ml sample in PIME-GC were 0.0031 ppb for benzene and 0.0068 ppb for toluene. Under the same condition, MDLs were 0.0043 ppb for benzene and 0.0086 ppb for toluene using OLMEM-GC. Both methods exhibited low detection limits, but PIME was more sensitive and had lower detection limits because of the "fresh membrane" effect.

5.3.4 Advantage of Nitrogen Purge

As water flows through the membrane at low velocity, a stagnant film (or the boundary layer) is formed at the membrane surface. The contribution of the boundary layer to overall mass transfer resistance in membrane permeation has been studied extensively [55-57]. Generally speaking, the relative contribution of the boundary layer to total mass transfer resistance across membrane depends upon the chemical nature of the analyte, flow conditions and membrane thickness. The flow conditions can be represented by Reynolds number [54]:

$$\operatorname{Re} = (\nu d \rho) / \mu \tag{5-10}$$

Where v is the velocity of the water, d is the diameter of the tubing, ρ is the sample density and μ is the viscosity of the sample. At higher Re (over 20,000), turbulent condition eliminates the effects of the boundary layer. In our experiments, Re was less than 100 and membrane used was as thin as 0.025 mm. Studies [55-57] have shown that

at these conditions, the boundary layer is well formed and results in a significant resistance to mass transfer.

In PIME system, a nitrogen purge was used to break up the boundary layer and eliminate sample tailing to increase system response and reduce response time. First the membrane was purged with nitrogen so that there was no boundary layer on the membrane surface to begin with. Then water was used to elute the sample during which, the boundary layer was formed. After the sample passed through, nitrogen was used once again to "freshen" the membrane and eliminate the sample tailing. Moreover, elution of the sample only took a few minutes, and the boundary layer was not formed completely. Thus, permeation rate was still higher than that encountered in a fully developed boundary layer of the steady state system. Since nitrogen purge is not applicable in continuous sample introduction, the sample always encounters a well formed boundary layer resulting in relatively lower permeation rate. A sensitivity comparison of 1 ml sample in continuous sample introduction, and PIME with nitrogen purge membrane was carried out and the result is shown in Fig. 5.8. It is clear that at the same concentration, the response is higher in the PIME system than that of sample continuous introduction. The ratio of the slopes of the calibration curves for PIME to that of sample continuous introduction was 1.57 demonstrating higher sensitivity of PIME system. This can be attributed to "fresh membrane" effect along with the reduction in boundary layer with nitrogen purge.





5.4 Conclusions

The PIME system demonstrated capability of applications on both discrete sample analysis and continuous monitoring of organics in water. In the application of continuous monitoring, PIME showed faster response and higher sensitivity than sample continuous introduction system.

ì

CHAPTER 6

CHARACTERISTIC STUDY OF PIME SYSTEM AND ITS APPLICATION

6.1 Introduction

In the previous chapters, the development of PIME system and the methods for enhancing its performance were studied. Good analytical performance in terms of linearity, low detection limits, high precision and extraction efficiency were obtained. The PIME was used for continuous monitoring of a water stream and compared to the previous developed continuous introduction system. The advantages of fast analysis, accurate response and the capability to analyze discrete samples were demonstrated.

Real environmental analysis is challenging since the real sample matrices are complex and contain a variety of different compounds. These require the analytical instrumentation to be rugged and be able to handle different samples. Conventional analysis methods include liquid-liquid extraction, solid phase extraction, head space analysis, and purge and trap. Among these, purge and trap is the most popular method, and several standard EPA methods are based on it. Purge and trap uses a stream of inert gas to purge a small amount of water sample. The purgable compounds are purged out and carried onto an adsorbent trap. Later, a thermal desorption is applied on the adsorbent trap and the analytes are refocused on a cryogenic trap. Another thermal desorption is needed for GC injection therefore a large cycle time is needed for purge and trap. The long travel path of analytes in the instrumentation may cause sample condensation and the moisture purged out often form ice which blocks the cryogenic trap. The instrumentation is also bulky and expensive and is not suitable to be modified to continuously monitor water stream at site.

In this study, the performance of PIME was compared to that of purge and trap. Studies carried out here were focused on investigation of the PIME system characteristics, instrumentation design to meet the challenge of environmental analysis. Finally, the instrumentation was used to analyze real ground water sample.

6.2 Experimental Section

Membrane module was made of 12, 8.5 cm long composite membranes of dimension 0.260 mm OD×0.206 mm ID (Applied membrane Technology, Minnetonka, MN). The membrane module was heated using heating tape and a temperature controller (ACE Glass) was used to maintain a certain temperature. A HP 5890 series II GC (Hewlett Packard Company, Avondale, PA) equipped with a flame ionization detector and a 30 m long , DB-624 column with ID 0.32 mm and 1.8 μ m thick stationary phase was used for GC separation. A HP Chemstation 3365 software was used for data acquisition and analysis. A purge and trap system of Tekmar LS 2000 model was used for the comparison with the performance of PIME system.

A multibed microtrap was prepared to retain VOCs of different volatility. The multibed trap contains Carbotrap C, Carbotrap B and a small amount of Carboseive S-III. The physical properties of the three adsorbents are listed in Table 6.1.

| Adsorbent | Carbotrap C | Carbotrap B | Carbosieve S-III |
|----------------------|----------------------|------------------------|---|
| Particle Size | 24/40 mesh | 60/80 mesh | 60/80 mesh |
| Surface area | 10 m ² /g | 100 m ² /g | 820 m ² /g |
| Suitable application | carbon $\# > C_8$ | carbon # C_4 - C_8 | carbon # C ₂ -C ₃ |

Table 6.1 General properties of the three adsorbents used in the study

The schematic diagram of the multibed microtrap is shown in Fig. 6.1. The length of Carbotrap C, Carbotrap B and Carbosieve S (Superco, Superco Park, PA) in the multibed trap were 6.5 cm, 4.5 cm and 0.5 cm respectively, and the corresponding mass of sorbent were 0.0110, 0.0121 and 0.0010 g respectively. The multibed trap was attached to a 6 port injection valve (Valco Instruments Co. Inc., Houston, TX). Back-flush of the multibed was used to provide efficient desorption.

Contaminated ground water samples were obtained from several different wells in the Naval Engineering Research Center located at Toms River, NJ. They were stored in amber bottles in a refrigerator with zero head space and were analyzed within 4 days. Spiked water samples were prepared by spiking regent grade chemicals into water.

6.3 Results and Discussion

6.3.1 Microtrap Trapping Interval

In the PIME system, the permeating VOCs were accumulated onto the microtrap until the permeation is complete. Typical response as a function of pulse interval is shown in Fig. 6.2. It was observed that the responses increased linearly as the pulse interval increased



Fig. 6.1 Schematic diagram of multibed microtrap with back flush desorption



Fig. 6.2 Response a function of trapping interval

until a maximum was reached beyond which no more sample left the membrane module. GC injections can be made when the eluent concentration becomes constant. The time when the curves become flat depends on the sample volume, eluent flow rate et. al.. It is important that the sample does not breakthrough the microtrap during trapping and that will be discussed later in the study.

6.3.2 Temperature Effects

Three mass transfer mechanisms of vaporization, solvation and diffusion are involved in pervaporation. The overall resistance is the sum of resistance in aqueous phase and membrane as discussed in previous chapter. Diffusivity increases with temperature, e.g. diffusivity increased 35% in water and 45% in the membrane when temperature increased from 26-45 °C [15]. However temperature affects the membrane permeation of different compounds differently as shown in Fig. 6.3. For nonpolar compounds which can easily vaporize, temperature effects on response is limited by the temperature effects on diffusivity in aqueous phase and permeability in membrane. Solubility and diffusivity in membrane can be described by the Arrhenius-type relationship:

$$S = S_0 \exp(-\Delta E_s / RT)$$
(6-1)

$$D = D_0 \exp\left(-\Delta E_d / RT\right) \tag{6-2}$$

thus:

$$P = S \times D = P_0 \exp\left(-(\Delta E_d + \Delta E_s)/(RT)\right)$$
(6-3)

where E_s is heat of solution. For vapors the heat of solution is negative, thus solubility decreases with temperature. E_d is activation energy of diffusivity which is always positive. The solubility decreases with temperature while diffusivity increases. The



Fig. 6.3 System response as a function of membrane module temparature

responses of toluene and chlorobenzene over the temperature range studied here clearly illustrated the balance between these factors. At low temperature range, diffusivity increase results in higher permeation, and at higher temperature the drop in solubility reduces permeation. As a result, the optimum temperature for maximum permeation was between 50-60 $^{\circ}$ C as shown in Fig. 6.3. However, the response of ketones continued to increase at the temperatures studied here. The possible reason is that ketones have strong affinity for water. An increase in temperature increases the Henry's law constant k_D, and thus the partial pressure P_i according to:

$$\frac{d(\ln k_D)}{d(1/T)} = \Delta H / R \tag{6-5}$$

$$P_i = k_D \times C_w \tag{6-6}$$

where ΔH is heat of absorption which is negative and C_w is the concentration of analytes in water. The increased volatility of acetone and MEK in the aqueous phase along with increased diffusivity dominated the pervaparation rate at this temperature range. Therefore, an increasing response was seen.

6.3.3 Effect of Salinity

The real sample may contain salts, so it is necessary to study the salinity effect on PIME system response. The effects of salt concentration on system response was studied by adding NaCl into the sample. NaCl concentration range was from 0.2 to 3 M in the aqueous sample. The effects of salinity on the system response of 5 ml aqueous sample containing 50 ppb of benzene, 50 ppb toluene, 200 ppb acetone and MEK are shown on Fig. 6.4. At low ion concentration, the system response of these components were not



Fig. 6.4 Salinity effect on system response. Assume the response to be 1 when the salt concentration in the sample was zero.

significantly affected by the existence of ion. A typical real environmental sample's ion concentration is usually below 0.5 M, therefore the existence of ion has no effect on the system response. So, generally speaking, the analytical method is suitable for the analysis of environmental samples containing salts.

At high NaCl concentration (1.5 mole/L), the response of acetone and MEK increased as shown in Fig. 6.4. The possible reason could be that at high ion strength, the solubility of polar compounds in the solution may decrease. It also may weaken hydrogen bond between polar solutes and water, thus can facilitate the transfer from water to membrane. So a higher membrane permeation was observed for polar compounds. For nonpolar solutes, the major interaction between water and solutes is Van Der Waal force which are not effected by the existence of ion, thus their response were not effected. So a moderately high ion concentration in sample could be an approach to improve membrane extraction efficiency of polar compounds without interfering with the permeation of nonpolar compounds.

6.3.4 Multiple-bed Adsorbent Trap

In real world environmental samples, a large variety of VOCs with different molecular size, weight and volatility are encountered. It is important that the microtrap retain all the pollutants. At the same time, it should be possible to desorb them quantitatively. Common adsorbent of Carbotrap C is suitable for retaining compounds having 8 or more carbons. Small or light compounds have short breakthrough times in a Carbotrap C microtrap [70].

In order to increase the breakthrough time for small molecules on the microtrap, a multibed microtrap packed with 3 adsorbents with different absorbtion capacity was prepared. It was desorbed in a back-flush as shown in Fig. 6.1. The adsorbents in series were Carbotrap C, Carbotrap B and Carbosieve S-III. The sorption ability in terms of breakthrough volume increases, and the ease of desorption is decreased in this order. During trapping, the analytes first encounter Carbotrap C where heavy compounds were trapped. The smaller analytes breakthrough to Carbotrap B and Carbosieve S layers. During desorption, the flow direction was reversed, i.e. the flow is from Carbosieve to Carbotrap C. Consequently, the heavy compounds never come to contact with Carbosieve from which they are not desorbed easily. Details of the multibed microtrap and its breakthrough, and desorption characteristics have been studied in our research group [70].

A water sample containing molecules such as methanol and acetone which tend to breakthrough the Carbotrap C trap was analyzed by PIME with a multibed trap with back flush desorption. No breakthrough was observed. A typical chromatogram is shown in Fig. 6.5. Good separation and sharp peaks were observed which demonstrated the PIME system equipped with multibed trap can be used for analysis of a large variety of VOCs.

6.3.5 Comparison with Purge and Trap System

Purge and trap is the most common methods for VOCs analysis in water. The instrumentation of purge and trap is fairly complex and expensive. The analysis time is fairly long because purging, trapping, desorbtion, and cooling down of the heated trap take time. Compared to purge and trap, the instrumentation for PIME is much simpler



Fig. 6.5 Chromatogram of a multibed trap with back flush desorption

-

and more compact. It can be easily modified for on-line monitoring a process stream [39]. A PIME analysis can be complete in a few minutes depending on separation time of GC column, which is much shorter than about 30 minutes typically needed in purge and trap analysis. The high sensitivity of membrane extraction in the PIME system results in low detection limits. The method detection limits for PIME systems are presented in Table 6.2 and compared to that for purge and trap. It shows the method detection limits for PIME system are in part per trillion range and are lower than that of purge and trap.

| Compounds | MDL of PIME (µg/L or ppb) | MDL in purge and trap (ppb) |
|-----------------------|---------------------------|-----------------------------|
| Benzene | 0.0012 | 0.04 |
| Toluene | 0.0063 | 0.11 |
| Ethylbenzene | 0.045 | 0.06 |
| 1,1,1-trichloroethane | 0.010 | 0.08 |

Table 6.2 Method detection limits for PIME system and compared to that for purge and trap system

A comparison of analysis of a typical water sample containing VOCs using PIME and purge and trap was carried out and the results are presented in the Table 6.3. As the table shows, good agreements for both method results were observed and the precision of PIME system was slightly higher.
Table 6.3 Comparison of PIME with purge and trap

| Components | | Pulse Introduction Membrane Extraction | Purge and Trap | Sample Value | |
|------------------------|---------------|---|----------------|--------------|--|
| D | Concentration | 70.3 ppb | 72.5 ppb | 69.0 ppb | |
| Benzene | RSD | 1.3 % | 2.8 % | | |
| Toluene | Concentration | 71.3 ppb | 80.1 ppb | 74.2 ppb | |
| | RSD | 1.6 % | 1.7 % | | |
| 1,1,1- Trichloroethane | Concentration | 65.7 ppb | 68.9 ppb | 69.5 ppb | |
| | RSD | 1.6 % | 6.6 % | | |
| | | | | | |



Retention Time (minutes)

Fig. 6.6 Chromatogram of a ground water sample contaminated with chlorinated solvent from Naval Engineering Research Station at Toms River, NJ

| Table 6.4 Analysis of ground water | samples from contaminated | sites from naval | engineering research |
|---|---------------------------|------------------|----------------------|
| station at Toms River, NJ | l | | |

| Sample | | <i>cis</i> -Dichloroethene Trichloroethene | | Tetrachloroethene | |
|---------|---------------|--|-----------|-------------------|--|
| | Concentration | 43.72 ppb | 13.03 ppb | 5.03 ppb | |
| Well LF | RSD | 3.8 % | 5.3 % | 12.2% | |
| Well LI | Concentration | 3.06 ppb | 3.96 ppb | Not Detected | |
| | RSD | 3.3 % | 11.9% | | |
| Well LK | Concentration | 8.36 ppb | 44.38 ppb | 14.14 ppb | |
| | RSD | 13.8 % | 4.6 % | 11.9 % | |

•

6.3.6 Application

The PIME instrumentation was used for analysis of a variety of VOCs such as benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene and xylene (BTEX), oxygenated and chlorinated compounds. These are common water pollutants. The system was applied to analyze contaminated ground water from a Superfund site in NJ. A typical chromatogram for chlorinated compounds in a contaminated water is shown Fig. 6.6. The pollutants were identified as cis-1,2-dichloroethene, 1,1,1-trichloroethane, trichloroethene and tetrachloroethene. A syringe with a filter was used to eliminate soil and particles. A 5 ml sample was used for each analysis. Eluent flow rate was 0.6 ml/min. Membrane was heated to 43° C. The quantitative analytical results are presented in Table 6.4 which shows contamination of ground water wells at sub ppb levels.

6.4 Conclusion

A comparison of PIME and purge and trap showed good agreement. PIME appeared to have higher precision. This system was used for analysis of real ground water samples.

CHAPTER 7

ON-LINE MEMBRANE EXTRACTION FOR CONTINUOUS MONITORING OF SEMIVOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS IN WATER

7.1 Introduction

Contamination of ground water and surface water resources have posed a major threat to public health. From an analytical perspective, the organic pollutants in water can be classified to as volatile organic compounds (VOCs) and semivolatile organic compounds (SVOCs). US Environmental Protection Agent (USEPA) has listed numerous VOCs such as BTEX (benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene and xylene), and SVOCs, such as, pesticides of diuron, prometon, PAH, phenol as regulated compounds. Conventional analytical methods for VOCs include head space, purge and trap and solid phase microextraction. The purge and trap is the most common method where an inert gas purges the VOCs from water. The organics are purged out and focused on a sorbent trap and then is thermally desorbed for GC or GC/MS analysis. The conventional measurement methods for SVOCs include liquid-liquid extraction (e.g. EPA method 1625) solid-phase extraction and large volume injection. Of these solid phase extraction is evolving as the method of choice due to the lower solvent use, and shorter analysis time.

All the above measurement process involve sampling at site, sample transportation, storage, sample preparation and analysis. These independent steps increase the probability of analytical errors due to contamination, sample loss etc. In addition, these techniques are not designed for automated on-line analysis. Although batch processes, by nature, attempts have been made to develop automated SPE and purge and trap for on-line analysis. The resulting instrumentation is complex, expensive and has relatively long

analysis. The resulting instrumentation is complex, expensive and has relatively long cycle times. At present these have found limited applications in process or environmental monitoring. There is a need for the development of instrumentation for on-line water monitoring which incorporates simple, rugged design while providing low detection limits for trace analysis. As the USEPA stated in its water quality guidance for the Great Lakes system [3], for some highly volatile, hydrolyzable, or degradable compounds, EPA strongly recommends to use only results of flow-through tests in which the concentrations of test compounds in test solutions were measured using acceptable analytical methods. A flow-through test is a test in which test solutions flow into constant-volume test chambers either intermittently (e.g. every few minutes) or continuously, with the excess flowing out.

Semipermeable membranes have been used for extracting and analyzing volatile organic compounds in water and air [14-19]. Membrane extraction is attractive because analytes can be isolated on-line from the air/water matrix in a continuous fashion and the whole process can be automated. In these applications, the membrane serves as an interface between water and an inert gas for GC column, or a vacuum for mass spectrometer. The organics migrate from the aqueous phase across the membrane to the permeate side of gas (or vacuum) under concentration gradient. The analytes are then introduced into a GC or a MS for analysis. The membrane interface with GC or GC/MS for continuous monitoring water and air have been reported [15-19, 23, 39].

The SVOCs offer additional challenges to on-line membrane extraction because these compounds are not easy to volatilize and can not be introduced easily into an

analytical instrument. Limited studies have been reported for analytical membrane extraction of SVOCs. Recently laser desorption of SVOCs from the membrane interface in membrane introduction mass spectrometry has been reported [40]. Application of dialysis with semipermeable membrane as an efficient method for lipid removal in the analysis of bioaccumulative chemicals has been published [41]. A membrane concentrator for SVOCs in water was designed by H. Nomura, J. Ahn, et al. [42] where water stream continuously flowed through a membrane module and a certain amount of organic solvent continuously circulated on the permeate side. After about 110 minutes of equilibrium, an eighty fold enrichment was obtained.

The objective of this study was to develop instrumentation for continuous, on-line monitoring of SVOCs in water stream using membrane extraction. The membrane serves as an interface across which liquid-liquid extraction takes place as shown in Fig. 7.1. The SVOCs transfer from aqueous phase and are concentrated in the organic phase. The enriched solvent continuously flows into a six port valve that intermittently injects sample into a HPLC for analysis. In this paper, continuous on-line monitoring of a simulated aqueous stream is demonstrated. The enrichment into the organic phase under different operating conditions, and the performance characteristics of the instrumentation are presented.

7.2 Experimental Section

The instrumentation includes hollow fiber extraction module, six port injection valve, HPLC with UV detector, extraction solvent and water delivery pumps. The schematic



Fig. 7.1 Concentration profile in membrane extraction process. Cw, Cm, Cs are analyte concentration in water, membrane and solvent phase respectively. The subscript 1 and 2 stand for incoming and outgoing concentration in that phase.

diagram of the instrumentation is shown in Fig. 7.2. The water sample and extraction solvent flow on either side of the hollow fiber. Two flow modes were used for hollow fiber extraction. In "flow over" mode, water flowed outside and the solvent inside the membrane fiber. In "flow through" mode, water flowed inside and the solvent outside the membrane fiber. Here the flow over configuration is shown. Water flow rates were faster at 2-5 ml/min, while the extraction solvent flowed at rate of 0.03-0.24 ml/min. This provided an enrichment of the organics into the solvent phase. A Waters HPLC syringe pump was used for water sample delivery, and a reciprocating pump of model QG 150 (Fluid Metering, Inc., Orchard Oyster Bay, NY) was used for solvent delivery. In practice, the membrane module was spiraled to reduce the boundary layer effects [10] , and to shorten the physical module length. The enriched solvent phase flowed through the sample loop of the six port valve (Valco Instruments Co. Inc., Houston, TX). Injections were made at regular intervals onto the HPLC column for separation. Corresponding to each injection a chromatogram was obtained.

The membrane module is made using 7 pieces, 121 cm long composite membrane 0.290 mm OD×0.240 mm ID (Applied membrane Technology, Minnetonka, MN). The membrane pieces were inserted into a 1/8" ID Teflon tubing. A "T" unit (Components & Controls Inc., Carlstadt, NJ) was used at each end of the tubing to connect the solvent and the water line. Epoxy was used to seal the ends so that the water and solvent did not come in contact with one another.

A Waters HPLC system comprised of model 600E pump and model 484 tunable UV detector were used in this study. A 150 \times 3.2 mm HPLC column with 5 μ m Pinnacle



Fig. 7.2 Schematic diagram of continuous membrane extraction system for SVOCs from water. Flow over mode is shown here.

Cyano stationary phase of (Restek Corp. Bellefonte, PA) was used for separation. A Minichrom data system is used to acquire and analyze the data.

7.3 Results and Discussion

The mechanism of liquid-liquid extraction across the membrane is shown in Fig. 7.1. The extraction process consists of 5 distinct steps: 1. analytes diffuse from water and through the boundary layer; 2. dissolve in membrane; 3. migrate through membrane; 4. desorb from membrane and dissolve in solvent; 5. migrate through solvent boundary layer into the flowing solvent. In steps 1, 3, and 5 where the analytes are in homogeneous phase, migration is governed by concentration gradients. The thickness of boundary layer is determined by the degree of mixing of the fluid with the membrane surface. The thicker the boundary layer, the larger the mass transfer resistance. In steps 2 and 4, the transfer of analytes from one phase to another is driven by the partitioning from water to membrane, and from the membrane to organic solvent respectively.

7.3.1 Performance of the Instrumentation

The continuous monitoring of semivolatile organic compounds in water involves making analysis at a relatively high frequency. The analytes were continuously extracted through the membrane. The enriched solvent was injected into HPLC column every few minutes and the operation is demonstrated here by continuously monitoring a water stream containing spiked SVOCs. A series of chromatograms were obtained as shown in Fig. 7.3 corresponding to a series of equal interval injections. The concentration were 2.58, 0.818



Retention Time (minutes)

Fig. 7.3 Series of chromatograms of continuous monitoring a water stream

and 0.957 ppm for phenol, aniline and nitrobenzene respectively. Good reproducity in peak shape, peak height and retention time were observed. Here, the analysis frequency was limited by the HPLC column separation time rather then the system's extraction process.

Calibration curves for phenol, aniline and nitrobenzene are shown in Fig. 7.4. The linear curves demonstrate the linearity of the extraction process. The precision and method detection limits are presented in Table 7.1 which shows excellent reproducibility and high sensitivity of the instrumentation. The RSDs were based on 6 repeat injections. The MDLs were evaluated according to standard EPA method [67]. The MDLs were obtained in the "flow through" mode, at a water flow rate of 2.5 ml/min, and methanol as the extraction solvent at a flow rate of 0.04 ml/min. It should be noticed that the system response and consequently the MDLs are a function of extraction solvent, and operating parameters such as water flow rate, solvent flow rate and membrane module design.

| Compounds | MDLs ^a (µg/L or ppb) | RSD ^b (%) | |
|--------------|---------------------------------|----------------------|--|
| Phenol | 15.2 | 0.32 | |
| Aniline | 8.2 | 0.78 | |
| Nitrobenzene | 1.98 | 0.14 | |

 Table 7.1 Method detection limits and precision of several semivolatile organic compounds

a. Method detection limits based on standard EPA method.

b. Relative standard deviation based on 6 replicates.



Fig. 7.4 Calibration curves of several organic compounds. Acetonitrile was used as the extractant at flow rate of 0.04 ml/min. Water flow rate was 2.5 ml/min in a flow through mode.

7.3.2 Enrichment Factor

The objective of the membrane extraction was to concentrate the organics from the aqueous phase into the solvent phase. The enrichment factor was defined as

$$F = \frac{Concentration in solvent}{Concentration in feed water}$$

The enrichment factor was evaluated for different flow conditions as well as for different extraction solvents. The results are presented at Table 7.2, 7.3 and Fig. 7.5 and 6. The enrichment factors were found to vary between 1 to 62 depending upon the analyte and the extraction conditions. From Table 7.2, it can be seen that the polar compounds such as phenol had low enrichment factors due to their strong affinity for water, and relatively low partition coefficients in the hydrophobic membrane used here. These results are consistent with other studies [23, 53]. Nonpolar compounds such as phenyl ether showed much higher enrichment factors. Comparison of Table 7.1 and 7.2 demonstrates that analytes with low enrichment factor had high detection limits, and vice versa.

The extraction solvent played an important role in determining the enrichment factor. Four solvents, methanol, acetonitrile, octanol and hexane were evaluated here. These represented a wide range of polarity. The enrichment factor was relatively lower in the polar solvents methanol and acetonitrile, and higher in nonpolar solvents. Even a polar analyte such as phenol had the highest enrichment factor in hexane, the most nonpolar of the solvents used here. Octanol-water and hexane-water partition coefficients from the literature [71] are also presented here. Although the partition coefficient of the analytes

| Fable 7.2 Enrichment Factor for Differen | t Compounds Using | g Different Solvents |
|---|-------------------|----------------------|
|---|-------------------|----------------------|

| Solvents * Compounds | Benzyl alcohol | Phenol | Nitrobenzene | Phenyl Ether |
|---------------------------------|----------------|--------|--------------|--------------|
| Octanol at 0.07 ml/min | 27.6 | 2.96 | 8.82 | 37.9 |
| Hexane at 0.09 ml/min | 35.1 | 4.84 | 11.3 | 62.7 |
| Acetonitrile at 0.027 ml/min | 2.02 | 2.78 | 2.12 | 2.58 |
| Methanol at 0.05 ml/min | 1.24 | 2.17 | 9.57 | 25.72 |
| log P(hexane)*** | -0.76 | -0.96 | NA** | NA** |
| log P(octanol) *** | 1.1 | 1.46 | 1.88 | 4.4 |

*. Water flow rate was 1 ml/min for methanol extraction and 5 ml/min for the other solvents.

**. Not available

***. Partition coefficients in octanol-water or hexane-water system

are higher in the octanol-water system than in the hexane-water system, the enrichment factors in hexane were found to be higher than that with octanol. The presence of the membrane is the obvious cause of the anomalous behavior. One possibility is that when the solvent came in contact with the membrane, the polymeric material swells. These results in a more open structure that allows rapid diffusion of analytes through the membrane. It is possible that swelling in presence of hexane is more than that in presence of octanol. Consequently, the permeability of the membrane was higher when hexane was used. Another possible explanation is as follows. Octanol can more easily extract these compounds directly from water than hexane. However, octanol is more polar thus does not easily extract organics from polysiloxane membrane. Therefore hexane as a nonpolar solvent would have stronger extraction ability for organics from membrane (in the step 4 of the extraction process) than octanol.

Another variable in the extraction process is the flow mode. Flow over (water outside the fiber) and flow through (water inside the fiber) modes can be used for hollow fiber extraction. The enrichment factors were found to be consistently higher in the flow-over mode as shown in Table 7.3. The internal volume of the membrane was small as the fiber ID was only 0.240 mm. The volume outside of the membrane was much larger because the ID of the module was 3 mm. Thus in flow-over mode, a small volume of organic solvent was involved in the extraction so that the analytes could be concentrated into a smaller volume.

In flow-through mode where the water flows inside of the membrane, smaller fiber diameter leads to a lower Reynolds number which determines the degree of mixing:

Re =
$$(\rho v d/\mu)$$

where Re is Reynolds number, ρ is the fluid density, v is the fluid velocity, d is tube diameter and μ is the fluid viscosity. The higher the Re, the better the mixing. Less mixing at the surface of the membrane results in a thicker boundary layer. Since the organics have higher solubility in the membrane than in water, a concentration depletion zone is formed. This increases the mass transfer resistance in step 1, and results in a lower enrichment factor. The boundary layer is not as critical for the organic solvent in which the analytes have very high solubility. In flow-over mode, the ID of membrane module is much larger than hollow fiber ID thus a higher Re was obtained. Also the presence of membrane fiber in the module shell acted as barriers to the flow path that introduced more turbulence and better mixing of the aqueous phase with the membrane.

Flow ModeBenzyl alcoholPhenolNitrobenzeneFlow thougha1.1211.01Flow overb12.86.566.33

 Table 7.3 Effect of flow mode on enrichment factor

a. Methanol flow rate was 0.023 ml/min and the water flow rate was 2.9 ml/min. b. Methanol flow rate was 0.035 ml/min and the water flow rate was 2.9 ml/min.

The enrichment factor was also a function of water and solvent flow rates. Faster water flow leads to a higher Re number forming a thinner boundary layer and faster mass transfer in step 1. Higher flow rate also brought more sample, consequently a larger amount of analyte, into the module. Enrichment factor as a function of water flow rate (in the flow-over mode) using acetonitrile as the extractant is shown in Fig. 7.5. It can be clearly seen that as water flow rate increased, the enrichment factor increased. The effect







Fig. 7.6 Enrichment factor as a function of extractant flow rate. Octanol was used as the extractant. Water flow rate was 5 ml/min in a flow over mode.

of extractant solvent flow rate at a constant water flow rate is shown in Fig. 7.6. The lower the flow rate, the less solvent was involved in the extraction process. Thus a higher enrichment factor was achieved. On the whole, higher water and lower extraction solvent flow rates are favorable for high enrichment factor.

7.4 Conclusion

On-line membrane extraction using an organic solvent was an effective method for developing instrumentation for continuous monitoring of semivolatile organics in water. The instrumentation demonstrated low detection limits, linear calibration curve, and excellent precision. The enrichment factor in the membrane extraction varied from anywhere between 1-62. It was a function of the analytes molecule, extraction solvent as well as flow conditions. The flow over mode was found to provide higher enrichment than the flow though mode.

CHAPTER 8

SUMMARY

Pulse Introduction Membrane Extraction-Gas Chromatography (PIME-GC) was developed for measuring trace level volatile organic compounds (VOCs) in water. This technique was based on non-steady state membrane permeation. A mathematical model developed here successfully described the system. The aqueous boundary layer provides the major mass transfer resistance for PIME. Reduction of the boundary layer using a gas purge of the membrane, and use of a spiral membrane module configuration resulted in significant improvements in system performance. The length of the membrane module had a major impact on extraction efficiency, and sensitivity increased with module length. The study showed that the sample duration on membrane module, flow rate, sample size, and temperature all affect the system response and lag time.

The system demonstrated good analytical performance in terms of linearity, detection limits, extraction efficiency, and precision. This instrumentation was compared to the system based on steady state membrane permeation. The nitrogen purge membrane was employed in PIME-GC to clean the membrane and reduce boundary layer effects. One major advantage of the PIME is that it could be used for continuous monitoring as well as for measuring discrete, individual samples. The comparison of the PIME with purge and trap system showed good agreement for both methods. The application of PIME to ground water analysis demonstrated the capability for real water measurement.

An exploratory continuous monitoring system for SVOCs in water using membrane extraction coupled with on-line HPLC analysis was also investigated. This technique

exploited the higher partition coefficient of organic compounds in the membrane and in an organic solvent to selectively extract the organics from water. Sixty fold enrichment in the organic phase was possible using this technique. This system showed good analytical performance in terms of low detection limits, high sensitivity and precision.

-

REFERENCES

- 1. 40 CFR part 141-142, 1997.
- 2. M. Biedermann, K. Grob, and M. Wiedmer, "Polyimide for deactivating gas chromatography vaporizing chambers and fixing packing materials," J. Chromatogr. A, vol. 764, no. 1, pp. 65-71, 1997.
- 3. B. Kebbekus, and S. Mitra, *Environmental Chemical Analysis*, Chapman Hall, London, 1998.
- 4. 40 CFR part 132, 1996.
- 5. I. T. Bae, L. Rachael, Barbour, and D. A. Scherson, "In situ fourier transform infrared spectroscopic studies of nitrite reduction on platinum electrodes in perchloric acid," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 69, pp. 249-252, 1997.
- 6. B. C. Mcintosh, W. M. Vidrine, and W. M. Doyle, "Real-time waste stream monitoring," *American Laboratory*, vol. 12, pp. 19-22, 1991.
- S. Shelley, "Real-time emissions monitors now detect smaller quantities of more compounds at breakneck speed," *Chemical Engineering*, vol. 11, pp. 30-37, 1991.
- 8. W. M. Doyle, and N. A. Jennings, "The applications of on-line IR," *Spectroscopy*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 34-38, 1990.
- M. Xanthos, and S. H. Patel, "Recent developments in in-line spectroscopy/microscopy for monitoring extrusion process," *Advances in Polymer Technology*, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 151-157, 1995.
- S. A. Liebman, D. H. Ahlstrom, and P. R. Griffiths, "On-line fourier transform infrared analysis of pyrolysis and combustion products," *Appl. Spectrosc.*, vol. 30, pp. 355, 1976.
- 11. D. A. Skoog, *Principles of Instrumental Analysis.* Saunders College Publishing/ Holt, Rinehart and Winston, The Dryden Press, New York, 1985.
- 12. M. Johnson, "Spectroscopic detection of aqueous contaminants using in situ corona reactions," Anal. Chem., vol. 69, pp. 1279-1284, 1997.
- 13. G. Hoch, and B. Kok, "Mass spectrometer inlet system of sampling gases dissolved in liquid phases," *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* vol. 101, pp.160-170, 1963.

- 14. M. E. Bier, and R. G. Cooks, "Membrane interface for selective introduction of volatile compounds directly into the ionization chamber of a mass spectrometer," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 59, no. 4, pp. 597-601, 1987.
- 15. L. B. Westover, J. C. Tou, and J. H. Mark, "Novel mass spectrometric sampling device hollow fiber probe," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 46, no. 4, pp. 568-571, 1974.
- 16. M. A. Lapack, J. C. Tou, and C. G. Enke, "Membrane mass spectrometry for the direct trace analysis of volatile organic compounds in air and water," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 62, no. 13, pp. 1265-1271, 1990.
- L. E. Slivon, M. R. Bauer, J. S. Ho, and W. L. Budde, "Helium-purged hollow fiber membrane mass spectrometer interface for continuous measurement of organic compounds in water," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 63, no. 13, pp. 1335-1340, 1991.
- 18. P. J. Savickas, M. A. Lapack, and J. C. Tou, "Hollow fiber membrane probes for the in situ spectrometric monitoring of nitrogen trichloride formation during wastewater treatment," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 61, no. 20, pp. 2332-2336, 1989.
- 19. J. S. Brodbelt, and R. G. Cooks, "An exceedingly simple mass spectrometer interface with application to reaction monitoring and environmental analysis," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 57, no. 6, pp. 1153-1155, 1985.
- T. Kotiaho, F. R. Lauritsen, T. K. Choudhury, and R. G. Cooks, "Membrane introduction mass spectrometry," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 63, no. 18, pp. 875 A-883 A, 1991.
- 21. J. S. Brodbelt, R. G. Cooks, J. C. Tou, G. J. Kallos, and M. D. Dryzga, "In vivo mass spectrometric determination of organic compounds in blood with a membrane probe," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 59, no. 3, pp. 454-458, 1987.
- 22. H. Degn, R. P. Cox, and D. Lloyd, "Continuous measurement of dissolved gases in biochemical systems with the quadrupole mass spectrometer," *Method of Biochemical Analysis.* vol. 31, pp. 165-194.
- Y. Xu, and S. Mitra, "Continuous monitoring of volatile organic compounds in water using on-line membrane extraction and microtrap gas chromatography system" J. Chromatogr. A vol. 688, pp. 171-180, 1994.
- 24. R. G. Melcher, and P. L. Morabito, "Membrane/Gas chromatographic system for automated extraction and determination of trace organics in aqueous samples," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 62, no. 20, pp. 2183-2188, 1990.
- 25. M. J. Yang, and J. Pawliszyn, "Membrane extraction with a sorbent interface," *LC*-*GC* vol. 14, no. 5, pp. 364-374, 1996.

- Yang, M. J.; Pawliszyn, J. "Multiplex gas chromatography with a hollow fiber membrane interface for determination of trace volatile organic compounds in aqueous samples," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 65, no. 13, pp. 1758-1763, 1993.
- S. Mitra, N. Zhu, X. Zhang, and B. Kebbekus, "Continuous monitoring of volatile organic compounds in air emissions using on-line membrane extractionmicrotrap-gas chromatographic system," J. Chromatography A, vol. 736, pp. 165-173, 1996.
- 28. M. J. Yang, Y. Luo, and J. Pawliszyn, "A two-step sample prep for GC," *Chemtech*, vol. 32, pp. 31-37, Otc. 1994.
- M. J. Yang, S. Harms, Y. Luo, and J. Pawliszyn, "Membrane extraction with a sorbent interface for capillary gas chromatography," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 66, no. 8, pp. 1339-1346, 1994.
- 30. M. J. Yang, B. Pawliszyn, and J. Pawliszyn, "Optimization of calculation parameters and experimental conditions for multiplex gas chromatography using computer simulation," *J. Chromatographic Science*, vol. 30, pp. 306-314, Oct. 1992.
- 31. Q. T. Nguyen, J. L. Ninow, and I. Marc, "Modeling of the behavior of microporous membrane sensors used in the detection of volatile organic solutes in aqueous media," J. Membrane Science, vol. 59, no. 3, pp. 249-265, 1991.
- 32. S. Mitra, X. Guo, and N. Zhu, "Membrane sample introduction for gas chromatography," in *Eastern Analytical Symposium & Exposition*, Somerset, NJ, Nov. 1996, no. 144, pp. 81.
- 33. S. Mitra, L. Zhang, N. Zhu, and X. Guo, "Characteristics of on-line membrane extraction microtrap GC system as applied to air and water monitoring," *J. Microcolumn Separation*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 21-27, 1996.
- 34. X. Guo, and S. Mitra, "Development of membrane purge and trap for measurement of volatile organics in water," in *Eastern Analytical Symposium & Exposition*, Somerset, NJ, Nov. 1997, no. 83, pp. 69.
- 35. K. F. Pratt, and J. Pawliszyn, "Water monitoring system based on gas extraction with a single hollow fiber membrane and gas chromatographic cryotrapping," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 64, no. 18, pp. 2107-2110, 1992.
- 36. K. F. Pratt, and J. Pawliszyn, "Gas extraction kinetics of volatile organic species from water with a hollow fiber membrane," *Anal. Chem.* vol. 64, no. 18, pp. 2101-2106, 1992.

- 37. R. G. Melcher, "Flow-injection determination of membrane-selected organic compounds," *Anal. Chim.*, vol. 214, pp. 299-313, 1988.
- L. Zhang, X. Guo, and S. Mitra, "Using a composite membrane for enhanced sensitivity and faster response in on-line membrane extraction microtrap gas chromatography," *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, vol. 44, pp. 529-540, 1997.
- X. Guo, and S. Mitra, "Continuous monitoring of volatile organic compounds in water using pulse introduction membrane extraction," in press, J. Chromatogr. 1998
- 40. M. H. Soni, J. H. Callahan, and S. W. McElvany, "Laser desorption-membrane introduction mass spectrometry," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 70, no. 15, pp. 3103-3113, 1998.
- 41. B. Strandberg, P.-A. Bergqvist, and C. Rappe, "Dialysis with semipermeable membranes as an efficient lipid removal method in the analysis of bioaccumulative chemicals," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 70, no. 3, pp. 526-533, 1998.
- 42. H. Nomura, J. H. Ahn, M. J. Foster, and T. C. Thomas, "Membrane concentrator for semi-volatile organic compounds," Publication of NeoMecs Inc. St. Louis Park, MN.
- 43. W. S. W. Ho, and K. K. Sirkar, *Membrane Handbook*, Van Nostrand Reinhold, New York, 1992.
- 44. D. R. Paul, and Y. P. Yampol'skii, *Polymeric Gas Separation Membranes*, CRC Press, Boca, Raton, FL., 1994.
- 45. H. A. Daynes, and G. A. Shakespear, "The theory of the katharometer," *Proc. Roy.* Soc. Ser. A, vol. 97, no. 685, pp. 273-286, 1920.
- 46. G. Palmai, and K. Olah, "New differential permeation rate method for determination of membrane transport parameters of gases," *J. Membrane Science*, vol. 21, pp. 161-183, 1984.
- 47. R. M. Barrer, "Permeation, diffusion and solution of gases in organic polymers," *Trans. Faraday Soc.* vol. 35, pp. 628, 1939.
- 48. R. N. Rickles, "Molecular transport in membranes," Industrial and Engineering Chemistry, vol. 58, no. 6, pp. 19-36, 1966.
- 49. J. G. Wilmans, and R. W. Baker, "The solution-diffusion model: a review," J. *Membrane Science*. vol. 107, pp. 1-21, 1995.

- 50. W. W. Brandt, "Modeling calculation of the temperature dependence of small molecule diffusion in high polymers," J. Phys. Chem. vol. 63, pp. 1080, 1959.
- 51. R. C. Binning, and F. E. James, "Now separate by membrane permeation," *Petrol. Refiner.* vol. 37, pp. 214, 1958.
- 52. R. C. Binning, and F. E. James, "Permeation: a new way to separate mixtures," *Oil Gas J.* vol. 56, no. 21, pp. 104-105, 1958.
- 53. H. Eustache, and G. Histi, "Separation of aqueous organic mixtures by pervaporation and analysis by mass spectrometry or a coupled gas chromatography-mass spectrometer," J. of Membrane Science, vol. 8, pp. 105-114, 1981.
- 54. R. B. Bird, W. E. Stewart, and E. N. Lightfoot, *Transport Phenomena*, Wiley, New York, 1974.
- 55. B. Raghunath, and S.-T. Hwang, "Effect of boundary layer mass transfer resistance in the pervaporation of dilute organics," *J. of Membrane Science*, vol. 65, pp. 147-161, 1992.
- 56. R. Psaume, Ph. Aptel, Y. Aurelle, J. C. Mora, and J. L. Bersillon, "Pervaporation: importance of concentration polarization in the extraction of trace organics from water," J. of Membrane Science, vol. 36, pp. 373-384, 1988.
- 57. G.-J. Tsai, G. D. Austin, M. J. Syu, and G. Tsao, "Theoretical analysis of probe dynamics in flow injection/membrane introduction mass spectrometry," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 63, no. 21, pp. 2460-2465, 1991.
- 58. M. C. Porter, *Handbook of Industrial Membrane Technology*, Noyes Publications, Park Ridge, NJ, 1990, pp. 174-175.
- 59. M. Soni, S. Bauser, J. W. Amy, P. Wong, and R. G. Cooks, "Direct determination of organic compounds in water at parts-per-quadrillion levels by membrane introduction mass spectrometry," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 67, no. 8, pp. 1409-1412, 1995.
- 60. M. J. Hayward, T. Kotiaho, A. K. Lister, R. G. Cooks, G. D. Austin, R. Narayan, and G. T. Tsao, "On-line monitoring of bioreactions of bacillus polymyxa and klebsiella oxytoca by membrane introduction tandem mass spectrometry with flow injection analysis sampling," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 62, no. 17, pp. 1798-1804, 1990.
- 61. S. Mitra, and C. Yun, "Continuous gas chromatographic monitoring of low concentration sample streams using an on-line microtrap," *J Chromatogr.*, vol. 648, pp. 415-421, 1993.

ţ

- 62. S. Mitra, Y. H. Xu, W. Chen, and A. Lai, "Characteristics of microtrap-based injection systems for continuous monitoring of volatile organic compounds by gas chromatography," *J. Chromatogr. A.* vol. 727, pp. 111-118, 1996.
- 63. W. E. Dennis and W. D. Larson, "Permeation and silicone elastonmers," Publication of Dow Chemical Corporation, Medical Product Business, Technical Service & Development, Midland, Michigan.
- 64. J. H. Petropoulos, in *Polymeric Gas separation Membrane*. Edits. D. R. Paul, and Y. P.Yampol'skii, CRC press, Boca Raton, FL., 1994.
- 65. D. Yang, S. Majumdar, S. Kovenklioglu, and K. K. Sirkar, "Hollow fiber contained liquid membrane pervaporation system for the removal of toxic volatile organics from wastewater," *J. of Membrane Science*, vol. 103, pp. 195-210, 1995.
- 66. A. Das, I. Abon-Nemah, S. Chandra, and K. K. Sirkar, "Membrane modified stripping process for removing VOCs in composite hollow fiber modules," In Press. J. of *Membrane Science*, 1998.
- 67. 40 Code of Federal Registrar, part 136, appendix B, 1994.
- 68. C. R. Wilke, In *The Properties of Gases and Liquids*. Edits. R. C. Reid, J. M. Prausnitz, and T. K. Sherwood, McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York, 3rd edition, 1977.
- 69. Lee, B. I. In *The Properties of Gases and Liquids*. Edits. R. C. Reid, J. M. Prausnitz, and T. K. Sherwood, McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York, 3rd edition, 1977.
- 70. Xu, Y. "Continuous Monitoring of Volatile Organic Compounds using Microtrap based Gas Chromatographic Systems," Ph. D. Dissertation. Dep. Chemical Engineering, Chemistry, and Environmental Science, New Jersey Institute of Technology, Newark, NJ, May, 1996.
- 71. A. Leo, C. Hansch, and D. Elkins, "Partition coefficients and their uses," *Chem. Rev.*, vol. 71, no. 6, pp. 525-616, 1971.